Comparing Alzheimer's Disease and Vascular Dementia Profiles on

Neuropsychological Tests among Japanese Elders

A dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty

of

Drexel University

By Maiko Sakamoto

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree

of

Doctor of Philosophy

May 2009

© Copyright 2009

Maiko Sakamoto. All Rights Reserved.

Dedications

I would like to dedicate my long journey in graduate school to my parents, Yoshinori and Shoko Sakamoto. They have always encouraged, inspired, and believed in me. I hope my mother is watching my growth and smiling from TENGOKU.

I also want to thank my loving sister, Mikiko, and her family for their unconditional love and support. Especially Keisuke, Ryosuke, and Yuzuki, who made me smile when I had difficult times.

At last but not least, to Bradford for all his love and encouragement.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deep appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Mary Spiers, who has generously given her knowledge and provided an excellent opportunity for me. I could not have achieved my dreams without her encouragement. She is my life-long mentor.

I gratefully acknowledge Dr. David Libon's support and encouragement. Dr. Libon tremendously helped me complete this project from very beginning and our conversations regarding "quintessential profiles of dementias" will continue throughout my career as a neuropsychologist.

I would like to thank my committee members, Drs. Tania Giovannetti, Maureen Gibney, and Pam Geller for their generous assistance.

I am thankful to Drs. Naoki Minami, Kumi Naruse, Yukari Sakiyama, and Takane Hirai, and all staff at Nanpu hospital for their help and support. I would also like to thank Miss Nisa Nabeshima and Miss Mari Fujita for their time and assistance to collect all data. I would like to express my appreciation to all participants for their patience and effort to complete the "painful one-hour neuropsychological testing."

Lastly, I would like to thank all my friends, especially Kayano Saori, Olivier Roux, Emily Roseman, Cindy Phillips, and Delia Silva for their enthusiastic help, encouragement, and most importantly their friendship.

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	v vi
1. INTRODUCTION.	1
1.1.1. Different neuropsychological profiles between AD and VaD in Western	
Culture.	3
1.1.2. Neuropathology of Alzheimer's Disease	9
1.1.3. Neuropathology of Vascular Dementia	10
 1.1.4. Importance of Differentiating AD and VaD in Japan 1.2.1. Impact of Cultural Differences between Japan and the U.S on AD and VaD 1.2.2. Validity of Western Neuropsychological Assessments for use with Japanese 	11
Elders.	16
1.2.3. Possible Cultural Differences in Cognition in AD vs. VaD	17
1.3. Choosing Appropriate Tests for Japanese Profiles of AD vs. VaD	25
2. HYPOTHESES	32
2 METHOD	22
3.1 Participants	55 34
3.2 Measures	36
3.3. Setting	42
3.4. Procedure.	42
3.5. Data Analysis	43
4. RESULTS	44
4.1. Participant Demographic Characteristics	44
4.2. Test Results	44
4.3. Sex Differences in Healthy Control Group	53
5. DISCUSSION	56
5.1.1. Executive Control.	56
5.1.2. Information Processing Speed	59
5.1.3. Visuospatial Construction	60
5.1.4. Language/ Semantic Knowledge	62
5.1.5. Learning and Memory	63
5.2. Sex Difference in Japanese Elders	65
5.3. Summary	66
5.5. Conclusion	69 71
	, 1
REFERENCES	74
VITA	86

List of Tables

1. Table 4.1. Demographic data	44
2. Table 4.2. Group means (%) and SDs of Digit Span Backward Task	46
3. Table 4.3. Group means (%) and SDs of Digit Symbol and Symbol Copy	47
4. Table 4.4. Group means and standard deviations of Clock Drawing Test	48
5. Table 4.5. Group means and standard deviations of JOLO	48
6. Table 4.6. Group means and standard deviations of Letter Fluency and Animal Nat	ming
Test	49
7. Table 4.7. Group means and standard deviations of PVLT-J	52
8. Table 4.8. Group means and standard deviations of ROCFT	53
9. Table 4.9. Demographic characteristics of Healthy Control (BDI and MMSE)	54
10. Table 4.10. Means and Standard Deviations of All Test	55

ABSTRACT

Comparing Alzheimer's Disease and Vascular Dementia Profiles on Neuropsychological Tests among Japanese Elders Maiko Sakamoto, M.A., M.S. Mary V. Spiers, Ph.D.

Dementia is a devastatingly serious problem in industrialized countries, such as Japan and the United States. The most prominent dementia subtypes: Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia (VaD) show a different pattern in these two countries. Most research studies on cognitive aspects of dementia have been conducted in western countries, but not in Japan, because of its short history of neuropsychology. To date, there has been only one Japanese study, and a criticism of this study is that it used tests that were insufficient and not culturally appropriate. It is necessary to explore what neuropsychological tests are sensitive and appropriate for a Japanese population in order to lead to more accurate diagnosis treatment strategies.

The present study aimed to identify valid neuropsychological tests for Japanese elders and to examine test profiles of AD and VaD in comparison to what is known in western neuropsychology. Five cognitive domains: executive control, information processing speed, visuospatial/construction, language, and learning and memory were evaluated. Seventy Japanese elders (30 healthy controls, 20 AD patients, and 20 VaD patients) participated in this study.

The present study indicated the usability of verbal learning and spatial memory tests, visuospatial/constructional tests, and a semantic fluency test for differentiating Japanese AD and VaD. These results suggest that Japanese AD patients showed a similar neuropsychological profile as that found in western studies (i.e. impairment in memory, visuospatial, and semantic knowledge). Japanese VaD patients, however, demonstrated less severity in executive control and motor slowness as compared to American VaD patients. It is possible that Japanese VaD patients have fewer white matter changes in the frontal lobe, and/or cultural factors, especially intensive training in pictorial written language (Kanji), might impact VaD patients' cognition.

The present study was the first study to evaluate the usability of a culturally appropriate neuropsychological test battery for distinguishing between Japanese AD and VaD. A new Japanese Verbal Learning test, the PVLT-J was developed particularly for the study. This study has immediate clinical utility for use in dementia diagnosis in Japan, and it is hoped that it will spur more research in comparative brain-behavior processing across cultures.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Dementia has become a serious problem in industrialized countries, such as the United States and Japan, where people's life expectancies have increased (Fillenbaum et al., 2005; Gao, Hendrie, Hall, & Hui, 1998). The number of people 65 and older between 1990 and 2020 is suggested to grow 1.3 times in the United States and 2.2 times in Japan (United Nations, 2003). Researchers in these countries along with other industrialized countries have been actively studying the mechanisms of dementia. Through advancing technology and researchers' efforts, new information regarding different types of dementia has emerged.

Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia (VaD) are the two most prominent dementia subtypes in both the United States and Japan (Welsh-Bohmer & Warren, 2006). Research on AD began in the early 20th century when Alois Alzheimer reported that his patient Auguste D., who had shown memory impairments, had neurofibrillary tangles and amyloid plaques in her brain at autopsy. Since then, the pathology and neuropsychology of AD has been vigorously studied and new important information has been revealed (Welsh-Bohmer & Warren, 2006).

On the other hand, VaD has only been recognized more recently. Initial conceptualization of VaD entailed only multi-infarct dementia (Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004). However, since the mid 1980's to the early 1990's, more researchers began to study small vessel vascular disease and its relationship with behavioral disturbances in greater depth (Filley, 2001; Lamar, Price, Davis, Kaplan, & Libon, 2002; Stuss & Cummings, 1990). With better understanding of mechanisms of VaD, clinicians and researchers started engaging in differentiating AD and VaD in terms

of brain-behaviors since accurate diagnosis and early treatment may lead to better prognosis. However, the majority of studies examining how AD and VaD patients perform differently on neuropsychological tests are conducted in western countries. Those western studies report that memory and language are prominent impairments for AD and frontal and executive control abilities and information processing speed are the primary deficits for VaD (Looi & Sachdev, 1999; Oosterman & Scherder, 2006). In spite of the fact that dementia is a serious problem for Japanese elders, there is only one study which compares neuropsychological profiles between AD and VaD among Japanese elders. It is furthermore critical to better understand how AD and VaD affect Japanese elders' cognition and behaviors.

Because of a short history of neuropsychology, Japanese clinicians often use cognitive assessments developed in western countries by translating them into Japanese. However, it is well documented that cultural differences strongly influence the performance on testing. In addition to other cultural differences, Japan has a unique writing system, using a pictorial written language called Kanji. Studies have demonstrated that intensive and lifelong Kanji education enhances Japanese individuals' visuospatial abilities (Bond, 1980; Gitterman & Sies, 1992; Flaherty & Connolly, 1995; Sakamoto, 2006). It is highly possible that Kanji training influences other cognitive domains such as memory, language, information processing speed, and executive control abilities. However, it is unclear how Japanese individuals, especially Japanese elders, perform on neuropsychological tests examining those cognitive domains. If Japanese and American people differ in their neuropsychological functioning, then AD and VaD may differentially affect brain-behavior relations across these cultures. In order to examine the

similarities and differences in neuropsychological profiles of Japanese AD and VaD patients, it is crucial to carefully select culturally appropriate and sensitive assessments for Japanese elders.

This study aimed to 1) identify appropriate neuropsychological tests to differentiate Japanese AD and VaD and 2) examine how Japanese AD and VaD patients perform on those tests. In this section, six important components will be discussed:

a) Different neuropsychological profiles between AD and VaD in western cultures

b) The importance of differentiating AD and VaD in Japan

c) The impact of cultural differences between Japan and the U.S. on AD and VaD

d) The validity of western neuropsychological assessments to Japanese elders

e) Possible cultural differences in cognition in AD vs. VaD

f) Identifying appropriate tests for Japanese profiles of AD vs. VaD.

1.1.1. Different Neuropsychological Profiles between AD and VaD in Western Cultures

Studies that are conducted in western countries report that there are measurable group differences in neuropsychological profiles between AD and VaD (Cummings, Miller, Hill, & Neshkes, 1987; Erkinjuntti & Rockwood, 2001; Jorm, et al., 1993; McPherson & Cummings, 1996; Sachdev & Looi, 2003). Generally, AD patients perform poorly on memory and language/semantic knowledge tasks whereas VaD patients perform worse on frontal and executive functions, and information processing speed (Looi & Sachdev, 1999; Oosterman & Scherder, 2006). Each important cognitive domain will be reviewed to better understand the unique patterns of performance of AD and VaD as they have been examined in western cultures.

Memory is the predominant impairment in AD (Reed et al., 2007). Studies report that VaD patients outperform AD patients (Looi & Sachdev, 1999; Mendez & Asla-Mendez, 1991; Padovani et al., 1995). VaD patients generally perform better on shortdelay recall, long-delayed recall, and recognition (Libon et al., 1997; Looi & Sachdev, 1999; Padovani, et al., 1995; Villardita, 1993). VaD also presents memory deficits; however, the characteristics of the deficits observed in AD and VaD are different in terms of quality and quantity. While patients with AD show encoding problems such that they do not benefit from the cued recall or delayed recognition trial for both verbal (i.e. California Verbal Learning Test and Philadelphia repeatable Verbal Learning Test) and non-verbal tasks (i.e. Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test), patients with VaD usually did not show that encoding problem (Reed et al., 2007; Libon et al., 1997; Looi & Sachdev, 1999, Padovani et al., 1995). Rather, VaD patients have difficulty retrieving the information with evidence that they display benefit from cued recall or recognition test conditions (Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004; Looi & Sachdev, 1999). Patients with AD also have more false positive and intrusion errors than do patients with VaD (Lafosse, Reed, Mungas, Sterling, Washbeh, & Jagust, 1997).

Language

Looi and Sachdev's meta-analysis revealed that half of the studies found no performance differences on language tests between AD and VaD (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). The studies, which successfully differentiated AD and VaD, found that AD patients outperformed VaD patients on the Letter Fluency Test (Padovani, Di Piero, Bragoni, Iacoboni, Gualdi, & Lenzi, 1995; Mendez, Charrier, & Perryman, 1997) and the Boston Naming Test (BNT) (Barr, Benedict Tune, & Brandt, 1992; Cosentino et al., 2004; Villardita, 1993). However, it is controversial whether AD patients perform better than VaD patients on the BNT since it requires semantic knowledge. Lukatera et al. (1998) analyzed the errors that AD and VaD patients made on the BNT and found that patients with AD made more superordinate errors (e.g., "bird" for pelican) whereas patients with VaD produced more coordinate errors (e.g., "seagull" for pelican) (Lukatera, Malloy, Jenkins, & Cohen, 1998). It is reported that AD patients are more likely to perform better on the letter fluency and worse on the category test (e.g., Animal Naming test), whereas the opposite profile is found in VaD patients (Carew, Lamar, Cloud, Grossman, & Libon, 1997; Henry, Crawford & Phillips, 2004; Monsch et al., 1997). In their most recent study, Rascovsky and her colleagues suggested that the disparity between letter and semantic category fluency impairments might be an indication of differences in the relative contribution of frontal-lobe-mediated retrieval deficits and temporal-lobe-mediated semantic deficits by comparing AD and temporal frontal dementia with autopsy confirmation (Rascovsky, Salmon, Hansen, Thal, & Galasko, 2007).

Executive Function

Although frontal lobe pathology is common in both AD and VaD (Lavretsky, 2006), executive deficits are not considered AD's primary impairment (Knopman & Selnes, 2003). Many studies report that patients with VaD perform more poorly than patients with AD on the executive function tasks, such as the Clock Drawing Test, the Similarities subtest of the WAIS, and the Letter Fluency Test (Garrett et al., 2007; Lamar, Price, Davis, Kaplan, & Libon, 2002; Lamar, Swenson, Kaplan, & Libon, 2004; Looi & Sachdev, 1999). It is suggested that the degree of leukoariosis, a measure of the white

matter alteration, is associated with the severity of the executive dysfunction (Lamar et al., 2007, 2008). VaD patients tend to make more perseveration errors on tests such as the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test and Graphical Sequence Test, than the AD patients (Garrett, Paul, Libon, & Cohen, 2004; Padovani et al., 1995; Starkstein et al., 1996). The severe perseveration errors may be associated with the deficits in establishing and maintaining mental sets (Lamar et al., 1997). VaD patients are resistant to redirection and feedback. More specifically, Lamar et al. (1997) reported that subcortical ischemic vascular dementia patients made more motor-related perseverations. In their study, patients with AD also demonstrated perseveration; however, it was related more to language and More recent study revealed that AD patients tended to show conceptualization. inhibitory control dysfunction associated with context-specific errors, which was considered higher level of executive function, whereas VaD patients made more perseveration and inhibitory control deficits related to non-context specific errors (Lamar et al., 2004). In other words, AD patients produce "close but not quite right answers" while VaD patients are unable to generate answers that are even in the right direction due to their inability to establish mental sets.

Working Memory

Working memory has aspects of executive control. It is often assessed by the Digit Span Backward Task, Trail Making Test, and Stroop Test (Looi & Sachdev, 1999; Oosterman & Scherder, 2005). Studies reported that patients with AD outperformed patients with VaD on the Continuous Performance Test, Trail Making Test, and Digit Span Backward Task (Villardika, 1993; Mendez, Charrier, & Perryman, 1997; Starkstein et al., 1996). Oosterman and Scherder (2006) conducted a meta-analysis to identify the

performance differences between AD and VaD and found that patients with AD outperformed the patients with VaD on the Digit Span Backward subtest on the WAIS-III. Lamar and her colleagues (2007) more specifically analyzed the relationship between leukoariosis and the performance on the Digit Span Backward Task. Although high degrees of leukoariosis witnessed in VaD patients did not interfere with just recalling numbers in any order, it did interfere with manipulating and re-ordering numbers in exact order (Lamar et al., 2007). It is crucial not only to look at overall performance but also to analyze the types of errors.

Psychomotor/Information Processing Speed

It is agreed that patients with VaD usually have more psychomotor retardation and motor dysfunction compared to patients with AD (Lavretsky, 2006; Garrett, Paul, Libon, & Cohen, 2004). It is often observed that VaD patients performed more poorly on the Digit-Symbol (DS) subtest and Symbol-Copy (SC) test of the WAIS than AD patients (Oosterman & Scherder, 2007). Moreover, a study showed that while AD patients performed significantly better on the SC than the DS, VaD patients performed unchangingly on those tasks (Sakamoto et al., 2007). The performance over time suggested that AD output on DS over the four 30-second epochs was basically constant; however, VaD output in the DS was characterized by a negative slope, which indicated reduced output over the four 30-second epochs. The slope for AD patients in the SC test indicated increasing output over the four 30-second epochs whereas VaD performance on the SC test over the four 30-second epochs remained constant (Sakamoto et al., 2007). Additionally, there were trends for VaD patients to make more perseverations and graphomotor errors in both test conditions (Sakamoto et al., 2007). Slow information processing speed in VaD may be attributed to disruption of motor association pathway (Sachdev & Looi, 2003).

Visuospatial/Construction Abilities

Whether or not there are differences in performance of visuospatial construction between AD and VaD is controversial (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). Some studies found no differences (Gfeller & Rankin, 1991; Padovani et al., 1995) while others found better performance of AD over VaD on the Clock Drawing Test, Block Design subtest, and Object Assembly subtest (Cosentino, Jefferson, Marissa, Price, Davis-Garrett, Swenson, & Libon, 2004; Kartesz & Clydesdale, 1994; Lamar et al., 1997, Libon, Malamut, Swenson, Sands, & Cloud, 1996). Especially, error analysis procedures for the Clock Drawing Test are able to differentiate VaD from AD (Cosentino et al., 2004). AD patients usually improve their performance on copy condition from demand condition. On the other hand, VaD patients' performance did not improve because VaD patients tend to perseverate. Careful error analysis may allow clinicians to observe performance differences between AD and VaD.

In summary, many western studies suggest that memory, language/semantic knowledge, executive control abilities, and information processing abilities are the important cognitive domains to differentiate AD and VaD. AD patients generally perform more poorly on memory and language/semantic knowledge tasks whereas VaD patients perform worse on frontal and executive function and information processing speed. It is controversial whether visuospatial/construction tasks differentiate AD and VaD. Thus, the unique patterns of performance on neuropsychological tests may be related to the anatomical and neuropathological characters of AD and VaD.

1.1.2. Neuropathology of Alzheimer's Disease

AD is characterized by the extracellular amyloid plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (Price et al., 1991). There are now neuropathological hallmarks for definitive post-mortem diagnosis of AD (Kandimalla, Curran, Holasek, Gilles, Wengenack, Ramirez-Alvarado, & Poduslo, 2006). The amyloid plaques are primarily composed of viscous transmembranes protein called amyloid β (A β) which is thought to be neurotoxic (Kandimalla et al., 2006). The amyloid plaques are found in large numbers in the limbic and associative cortices of AD patients and vary widely in size (Eriksen & Janus, 2007). Neurofibrillary tangles are found within neurons and composed of various hyperphosphorylated forms of the microtubule associated protein tau. In AD, the neurofibrillary tangles affect large regions of brain including frontal, temporal, parietal, occipital associative cortices, the entorhinal cortex, hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus and amygdale (Eriksen & Janus, 2007). The abnormal cross-linking of the proteins causes massive disturbances in microtubular arrays. This leads to the inability of supporting normal intracellular transport of proteins, and as a result, neuronal death (Welsh-Bohmer & Warren, 2006). It is suggested that the neurofibrillary tangles are observed in the entorhinal cortex in early stage of the disease, and then spread to the hippocampus while damaging the pathways from the hippocampus to the rest of the cortex (Braak & Braak, 1997; Hampstead, 2006). Considering the importance of medial temporal lobes including parahippocampal, perirhinal, and entorhinal cortices and the hippocampus for the formation of new memories (Squire & Zola-Morgan, 1991) as well as semantic knowledge (Saffran & Schwartz, 1994), it is understandable that impairments

in memory and semantic knowledge are often witnessed in the early stage of AD and progressively worsen as the disease progresses.

1.1.3. Neuropathology of Vascular Dementia

Unlike AD, the neuropathology of VaD is more complex; therefore, the clinical presentations of VaD can be heterogeneous. However, Olsson, Brun, and Englund (1996) proposed that it is helpful to categorize underlying events of VaD into extra-cranial and intra-cranial disease by identifying fundamental pathological lesions.

Extra-cranial disease includes atherosclerosis, emboli, and thrombi (Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004). Atherosclerosis is caused by gradual buildup of fibroblasts and often affects both large and small vessels. Atherosclerotic process is highly linked to the increased risk of lacunar infarcts (Vinters et al., 2000). Emboli originate from either heart or lungs, travel through the bloodstream, and often block branches of one of the three major cerebral arteries (Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004). Thrombi are associated with endothelial cell damage of arteries (Capron, 1988), and eventually reach the brain (Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004).

Cerebrovascular disease that involves intra-cranial vessels is often associated with subcortical vascular pathology (Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004). It is suggested that the deep subcortical white matter vascularization may be vulnerable to injury caused by alterations or decrease in cerebral blood supply because of its anatomy (de Reuck, 1971; Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004). Also, the deep subcortical white matter may be easily compromised due to secondary effects of disease, particularly ischemia (Patoni & Garcia, 1997).

The damage caused by extra or intra-cranial disease leads to cognitive impairments and behavioral disturbances. In general, the severity and types of impairments depend on the location and the amount of damaged neurons. In spite of the heterogeneity of VaD neuropathology, common areas that are vulnerable to cardiovascular syndromes are found. For instance, a cerebral blood flow study demonstrated that cerebral hypoperfusion is primarily present in the frontal areas in VaD (Nagata et al., 2000). As discussed earlier, deep subcortical white matter is also vulnerable to cerebrovascular disease due to anatomical reasons. These more common pathologies may result in the prominent cognitive impairments of VaD such as executive dysfunction and psychomotor slowing.

1.1.4. Importance of Differentiating AD and VaD in Japan

Many studies have demonstrated that AD and VaD have unique clinical presentations; however, the majority of the studies were conducted in western cultures. There is only one Japanese study which tried to differentiate mild AD and mild VaD by assessing different cognitive domains (Tei et al., 1997). In the Japanese study, attention and mental processing speed, language, verbal memory, visual memory, visuo-construction ability, and executive control ability were assessed. Tei and his colleagues utilized the Symbol Digit Modality Test, Letter Pick-Out Test, Letter and Semantic Fluency Tests, Digit Span Forward Test, Rey Auditory-Verbal Learning Test, Ray-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test, and Wisconsin Card Sorting Test. They found that AD

patients performed more poorly on visuospatial memory and VaD performed worse on executive control abilities (Tei et al., 1997). It is surprising that AD did not show inferior performance to VaD on verbal memory since memory impairment is a prominent problem universally observed from the early stage of disease (Graves et al., 1999). Memory impairment is also considered a first indication of AD in Japanese dementia cases (Hasegawa, 1983). There are two possible explanations for why AD and VaD performed similarly on verbal memory: either memory functions of Japanese AD and VaD patients are similar at the early stage of disease, or the assessment did not adequately differentiate the problem among Japanese elders.

Tei and his colleagues (1997) used the Rey Auditory-Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) to assess verbal memory. As discussed earlier, studies conducted in western countries have reported that patients with AD show encoding problems whereas patients with VaD usually show retrieval problems (Reed et al., 2007; Libon et al., 1997; Looi & Sachdev, 1999, Padovani et al., 1995). In order to differentiate those two types of memory deficits, cued recall, delayed recall, and recognition trials are essential in verbal learning tests. Tei and his colleagues assessed immediate recall and delayed recall, but did not include the cued recall or recognition trials of the RAVLT. It is possible that Tei et al. might have failed to capture the Japanese mild AD patients' encoding deficits. It is therefore important to examine how Japanese AD and VaD patients perform on delayed recall, cued recall and recognition.

It is also quite possible that the study results are valid; that is, Japanese AD and VaD participants may not differ in verbal memory abilities. Tei et al. (1997) reported that both AD and VaD scored significantly lower than healthy controls on the trial 5 and

6 of the RAVLT. However, it is premature to conclude that AD and VaD in Japanese patients have similar memory profiles at the early stage of disease from one study. In fact, the Japanese VaD outperformed the Japanese AD on the delayed recall of spatial memory task. In order to determine whether Japanese AD and VaD in fact show different memory profiles from western AD and VaD, it is crucial to conduct a similar assessment of verbal memory, but with greater attention to the variables which have differentiated AD and VaD.

As with memory, it is unclear why Japanese AD and VaD showed no significant differences in language and information processing. Again, it could be due to inadequate assessment tools or, more straightforwardly, due to similar performance between Japanese AD and VaD. Tei's study was conducted 10 years ago and newer studies conducted in western countries have been proposing specific tests to assess specific cognitive domains that are important for differentiating AD and VaD. By using those assessment tools, we may be able to better understand whether AD and VaD impact Japanese elders' cognition in a different way than they do Americans'. Therefore, it is essential to carefully select adequate neuropsychological tests that may be able to differentiate Japanese AD and VaD and to investigate how these two groups perform similarly or differently on the tests.

There is another reason why it is crucial to explore the field of differentiating between Japanese AD and VaD in depth. The incidence rates of AD and VaD in the United States and Japan are reversed although AD and VaD are prominent subtypes of dementia in both countries (Welsh-Bohmer & Warren, 2006). For instance, it was reported that the ratio of AD and VaD was 1.7 in the western nations while the ratio was reversed in Japan (AD: VaD, 0.5) (Jorm, Korten, & Henderson, 1987; Tatemichi, Sacktor, & Mayeux, 1994). The differences in incidence rates could be due to biological susceptibility (Hallman et al., 1999) and/or lifestyle differences between two countries. They may alter the risks for different subtypes of dementia, AD and VaD (Graves, Rajaram, Bowen, McCormick, McCurry, & Larson, 1999; Larson, McCurry, Graves, Bowen, Rice, McCormick et al., 1998).

In the *Ni-Hon-Sea Study*, Japanese elderly men who were living in mainland Japan, Hawaii, and Washington State were compared (Larson et al., 1998). When the ratio of AD to VaD was compared in the three cultural groups, the ratios changed progressively from an Asian to a western pattern: 0.55 for Japan; 0.67 for Hawaii; and 2.0 for Washington. The shift across three genetically related but culturally diverse groups suggests a great influence of culture on the incidence rates of AD and VaD (Larson et al., 1998).

Another cross-cultural study which compared the Japanese population in Okinawa, Japan, and Brazil found that the Japanese elderly in Japan showed lower incidence rates of AD and VaD (Yamada et al., 2002). This study suggested that dietary differences, such as that the Japanese Brazilian eat more meat and less fish than the Japanese in Okinawa who consume more fish and less meat, created the different incidence rates since the two cultural groups have similar biological backgrounds. As a matter of fact, there are studies indicating the importance of dietary factors to reduce dementias (Mizushima, et al., 1997). Fish consumption has been inversely related to the incidence of dementia, especially AD (Kalmijn, Lauren, Ott, Wiiteman, Hofman, & Breteler, 1997). The n-3 PUFA in fish has anti-inflammatory properties (Blok, et al., 1996) and

inflammation is now believed to be closely related with AD pathophysiology (McGeer & McGeer, 1995).

These epidemiological studies propose that cultural factors greatly influence the prevalence of AD and VaD. In other words, different lifestyles may increase or decrease the risk factors for AD and/or VaD. However, these studies do not provide information regarding how AD and VaD impact Japanese elders in terms of cognitive functions. It is still unknown how differently or similarly AD and VaD affect Japanese cognition as compared with American cognition. Since VaD is preventable and has effective treatment, it is important to differentiate VaD from AD in early stage of illness. Accurate diagnosis and early treatment are the crucial key factors to prevent the progression of the syndromes, which leads to reduction of the burdens to the associated families. In Japanese society, it is tradition and culture that family members nurse their loved ones who suffer from dementia at home instead of sending them to nursing homes. Thus, it is urgent to study further AD and VaD in Japanese culture.

1.2.1. Impact of Cultural Differences between Japan and the U.S.

It is well documented that cultural factors affect cognition (Amponsah, 1997; Amponsah & Krekling 2000; Feingold, 1994; Orsini, Schiappa & Grossi, 1981; Orsini, Simonetta & Marmorato, 2004; Silverman, Phillips & Silverman, 1996). How Japanese individuals perceive things, think, and solve problems may be different from Americans. Again, if how the brain works is different between Japanese and Americans, it is possible that AD and VaD affect Japanese brains differently from American brains. In order to examine how AD and VaD affect Japanese elders' brain-behaviors, we have to administer a variety of neuropsychological tests to Japanese elders and examine how they perform. However, the validity and reliability of the tests for the Japanese that were developed and standardized in western countries is greatly in question.

1.2.2. Validity of Western Neuropsychological Assessments to Japanese Elders

Development of psychological and neuropsychological assessments began in European countries in the early 20th century (Gardner, 1999). Binet and Simon are considered the developers of the first psychological assessment. Their goal was to develop a comprehensive battery of tests to distinguish children with mental retardation from those with behavioral problems. Binet and Simon's success motivated other psychologists such as David Wechsler, an American, and led to the development of other intelligence and cognition assessments including the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS) (Chan, Shum, & Cheung, 2003).

The development of psychological assessments in Asia started much later because both academic and professional psychology in most Asian countries did not establish themselves until the mid-20th century. Moreover, the psychological literature published in western culture was not available to psychologists in Asian countries until recently (Chan, Shum, & Cheung, 2003). When it became available, Asian psychologists and scientists started using the assessments that were developed in the west, instead of creating their own assessments, because many assessments had already established their validity and reliability in those western countries at that time (Chan, Shum, & Cheung, 2003). Japan is no exception. Many western neuropsychological tests were adopted and directly translated into Japanese. However, the issues regarding cross-cultural validity of the assessments as well as the norms have arisen since not only language differences but also other environmental differences impact the performance on testing.

It is especially important to take into account cultural factors when discussing brain diseases, such as AD and VaD. Some research studies have suggested the brain works differently in Japanese and Americans (Aldila, 2003; Nisbett & Masuda, 2006; Sakamoto, 2006). Living in a homogeneous and traditional Japanese culture for seven or eight decades may produce different patterns of cognitive functions. Differences in thinking process, perception, and strategies used in daily life may create different ways of brain functions between Japanese and Americans. If the two cultural groups use their brains differently throughout their lives, it would not be surprising that AD and VaD affect Japanese and Americans' cognition differently. It is important to discuss more specifically what cognitive domains may show unique cultural differences in AD vs. VaD.

1.2.3. Possible Cultural Differences in Cognition in AD vs. VaD

Japanese and Americans may have different patterns of brain functions (Aldila, 2003; Nisbett & Masuda, 2006; Sakamoto, 2006). There is no neuroimaging study evaluating whether Japanese elders and Americans elders use their brains differently on the same tasks; therefore, it is difficult to predict how differently or similarly elders in the two cultural groups would perform in specific cognitive domains. However, behavioral studies in psychology and anthropology are useful resources to explore certain cognitive domains that possibly show cultural differences in cognition in AD and VaD. The important cognitive domains that are crucial when discussing AD and VaD in Japanese

culture will be discussed. These are spatial abilities, executive functioning, information processing, memory, and language.

Visuospatial/Construction Abilities

One of the largest cultural differences between the U.S. and Japan are the writing and reading systems. Japanese written language relies on three types of forms: Hiragana, Katakana, and Kanji. Both Hiragana and Katakana are phonological letters, like those found in the Roman alphabet; however Kanji utilizes pictorial characters. Approximately 1,050 complex pictorial characters are commonly used in Japanese daily life. The three Japanese forms are taught in school, but Kanji is the most difficult form to learn and as a result is taught in school up to high school or even in college. Moreover, families encourage their children to perfect the written execution and visual mastery of these characters. Hatano (1990) suggests this process is a "cultural imposition." The vigorous visual training, which includes the visual processing skills, formation of images, and attention to detail involved in learning these complex symbolic characters throughout life, may facilitate accurate processing of pictorial information (Bond, 1980; Gitterman & Sies, 1992). Interestingly, a longitudinal cross-cultural study found that Japanese Americans who had more traditional Japanese lifestyles and were more exposed to the Japanese language (Kanji) as children and adults had a lower risk of experiencing cognitive decline over a 2-year follow-up period (Graves et al., 1999). This study suggests that living in a traditional Japanese culture, especially being exposed to Kanji education, may reduce risk factors for dementia, especially AD (Graves et al, 1999).

Also, the Japanese have a unique history in reading style. Before World War II, Japanese words used to be read from right to left when they were written horizontally. Because Japan was influenced by western countries such as America and Britain, after World War II, the reading direction was changed from left to right. However, when Japanese is written vertically, the lines start from right and continue to the left. This mixed way of writing and reading from both right to left and left to right may influence both hemispheres of the visual fields (Fox, 1993). Because the majority of Japanese at risk for dementia were born before World War II when the written language was influenced by western countries, those Japanese elders may have unique ways to approach spatial performance tasks. How Japanese elders perceive and process objects may be different from American elders.

Grön and colleagues found different neural activation on the same visuospatial tasks between German and Chinese (Grön et al., 2003). Although Japanese individuals were not assessed in the study, Chinese use very similar writing and reading systems to the Japanese. Kanji is actually a Chinese written language that was conveyed from China and integrated in Japanese culture more than a thousand years ago. In Grön's study, Chinese and German participants were asked to solve the same spatial tasks while their brain neural activation was measured by fMRI. When the participants were learning new information, the dorsal stream (bilateral frontal and parietal cortex networks), which is also known as the "where" system, was actively working in the Chinese group. On the other hand, the ventral stream (fusiform gyrus and hippocampal complex network), which is known as the "what" system, was activated in the German group. Thus, the two cultures showed differences both in their behavioral strategies and in neural network activation (Grön et al., 2003). Japanese might also use the "where stream" rather than the "what stream" in performing spatial tasks.

A recent research study showed that young native Japanese individuals performed better on spatial performance tasks than Japanese Americans and European Americans due to mainly environmental differences since the native Japanese and Japanese Americans are genetically very similar (Sakamoto, 2006). Furthermore, when the strategy on the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test (ROCFT) was analyzed and compared between the three cultural groups, the usual sex difference in western populations showing men's preference for a more "holistic" strategy was not found in the native Japanese group (Sakamoto, 2006). In other words, both Japanese men and women used a very similar holistic approach to copy the complex figure. The longstanding vigorous Kanji training may have led Japanese women to perform in the same manner as Japanese men on the strategy although the ROCFT is considered as a male favoring task (Carole et al., 2004; Feingold, 1994; Silverman & Phillips, 1996).

Thus, Japanese cultural factors, and possibly the pictorial written language, may strengthen Japanese individuals' visuospatial abilities. Moreover, Japanese people seem to use holistic strategies for visuospatial tasks. Although many western studies failed to show differences between AD and VaD by using visuospatial tasks (Gfeller & Rankin, 1991; Loring, Meador, Mahurin, & Largen 1986; Villardita, 1993), because the Japanese study demonstrated superior performance of VaD patients on a visuospatial memory test (Tei et al., 1997), it is highly possible that AD and VaD affect Japanese elders differently from American elders. Since the underpinnings of how the brain works seems to differ between Japanese and Americans, examining spatial abilities may provide crucial information when differentiating AD and VaD among Japanese individuals.

Executive Functioning

As discussed earlier, the thinking processes and strategies that the Japanese use may be different from the Americans'. It is more likely that the Japanese solve high functioning problems by using more visual strategies whereas the Americans use more verbal strategies. Anthropological and cross-cultural studies reported that when causal attribution and prediction were assessed, western people tended to explain events by referencing to the properties of the object while Asians tended to explain the same events with reference to interactions between the object and the field (Choi & Nisbett, 1998; Choi, Nisbett, & Norenzayan, 1999; Morris & Peng, 1994; Nisbett & Masuda, 2006). For instance, when participants were shown cartoon displays of an individual fish moving in relation to a group of fish in various ways, Asian participants were more likely to see the behavior of the individual fish as a product of other fish: external factors. American participants tended to see the behavior more as being produced by factors internal to the individual fish (Morris & Peng, 1994). Different approaches to complex problem solving tasks may result in different neuropsychological profiles between AD and VaD in Japanese elders as compared to American elders. Nevertheless, the Japanese study demonstrated that VaD patients were significantly more dysexecutive than AD patients using the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (Tei et al., 1997). The Japanese VaD patients were unable to find correct categories by learning from their mistakes because of the perseveration errors. The result is consistent with western studies, which also showed AD patients' impairments in executive functioning. Even though the thinking process and strategies are different between Japanese and Americans, the VaD neuropathology may impact individuals in those cultural groups in similar ways. Since there is only one

Japanese study, it is important to examine whether executive functioning impairments are prominent VaD deficits for both Japanese and American cultures.

Information Processing Speed

It is unclear how Japanese AD and VaD patients perform on tasks of information processing. Since Japanese are used to reading and writing symbol-like written language, Kanji, it is possible that minimal impairment in information processing in Japanese VaD group may be observed. The culture of reading and writing from different directions may also advantage Japanese elders' different information processing skills. In fact, the Japanese study did not differentiate between AD and VaD on the information processing tasks (Tei et al., 1997). In order to assess if the information processing abilities are less impaired in the Japanese VaD group, it is important to examine this cognitive domain.

Language

Japanese and English are two totally different languages in terms of grammar, pronunciation, and again, written systems. It would not be surprising if Japanese and American elders use different strategies and approaches to language tasks. Furthermore, the Japanese and Americans may show different brain activations when they speak their own language. Among different types of neuropsychological tests, verbal fluency and semantic fluency tasks may show unique neuropsychological profiles of Japanese AD and VaD because it is possible that Japanese individuals are having photographical images or Kanji characters when they are generating words. A Japanese neuroimaging study on AD showed a significant relationship between letter fluency tasks and only left prefrontal dysfunction whereas category fluency was more related to left temporal and prefrontal dysfunction (Kitabayashi et al., 2001). This brain activation is consistent with

findings in western studies. On the other hand, it is believed that phonological letters (i.e. Hiragana, Katakana, and Roman letters) are interpreted at Brodmann's area 39 while Kanji is interpreted at Brodmann's area 37 (Uemura, 2006). Neural activations in different parts of the brain may result in different performances between AD and VaD groups on language tasks.

In terms of sex differences, it is thought that females generally perform better than males on verbal fluency tasks in western cultures (Weiss, Ragland, Brensinger, Bilker, Deisenhammer, & Delazer, 2006). However, a recent study reported that Malaysian elders did not show sex differences on verbal fluency task (Mathuranath, George, Alexander, Sarma, & Sarma, 2003). It is highly possible that Japanese elders also show no sex differences on verbal fluency tests. It is important to examine whether or not there are sex differences in verbal abilities among Japanese elders.

Memory

Memory functioning is composed of verbal memory and non-verbal memory. For verbal learning tasks such as the California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT) (Delis, Kramer, Kaplan, & Ober, 1987), there are several strategies. Some people may categorize the list of words based on families or categories while others may remember the list of words in the order they were given in. Categorical strategies are found in both Japanese and American cultures; however, how items are categorized seems different (Nisbett & Masuda, 2006). Asians have been found to classify items and events on the basis of relationships and family similarity whereas Americans tend to categorize on the basis of ruled-based category membership. For instance, when a chicken, cow, and grass were presented to American and Asian children, American children were more likely to choose the chicken and cow as they are both animals. On the other hand, Asian children tended to select the cow and grass as objects that could go together because "a cow eats grass." (Chui 1972; Nisbett & Masuda, 2006). Specific ways of categorization may not influence the accuracy of immediate recall as compared to no use of any categorical strategies at all; however, it is possible that the different categorical strategies may impact memory in long term. Furthermore, no Japanese studies reported how AD and VaD patients would benefit from cued recall and recognition; therefore, it is important to assess different types of verbal memory functions such as the ability to encode or retrieve newly learned information.

Assessing visuospatial memory is not as beneficial as testing verbal memory to differentiate AD and VaD in western cultures (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). However, visuospatial memory could provide unique information about AD and VaD among Japanese elders since visuospatial abilities are strengths of Japanese individuals. In fact, the Japanese study was able to differentiate between AD and VaD on a visuospatial memory test (Tei et al., 1997). The Japanese AD patients performed worse on the delayed recall of the ROCFT than the VaD patients. Perhaps, AD may more greatly affect Japanese elders than American elders. Japanese are visually and spatially oriented. Once they begin to suffer from AD, their visuospatial abilities to remember structures, shapes, locations, and details may become impaired at early stage of disease. The Japanese individuals' visuospatial strategies may no longer be useful or applicable for spatial memory.

Flaherty and Connolly (1995) found that Japanese individuals outperformed American individuals on spatial location memory tests. They also qualitatively reported that the Americans used more verbal strategies whereas the Japanese used more nonverbal and holistic approaches. AD neuropathology may damage the Japanese individuals' spatial strategies more severely than the American individuals' verbal strategies to remember the locations of items. Thus, assessing both verbal and non-verbal memory appears helpful to differentiate AD and VaD in Japanese culture.

In summary, it is crucial to assess whether those cognitive domains that differentiate AD and VaD in the west are also prominent for Japanese AD patients and VaD patients. Additionally, the only Japanese study has shown that the Japanese AD patients perform significantly poorly on a visuospatial memory test, ROCFT, although it is debatable for western researchers if the spatial memory abilities are significantly worse in AD than VaD (Looi & Sachdev, 1999; Tei et al., 1997). As the Japanese study suggests, it is crucial to replicate the study and assess how Japanese AD and VaD patients would perform on various neuropsychological tests, including visuospatial memory tasks. However, new research should select more sensitive neuropsychological assessments tools for cultural differences in dementia. This leads to the question of; what specific tests should be used in study differentiating Japanese AD and VaD?

1.3. Choosing Appropriate Tests for Japanese Profiles of AD vs. VaD

As mentioned earlier, there is only one study that has extensively examined performance differences between Japanese AD and VaD (Tei et al., 1997). It demonstrated significant differences in executive control and delayed spatial-visual memory. Many western studies have also shown significantly impaired performance in VaD as compared with AD on executive control, which is consistent with the Japanese study. However, other important cognitive domains that generally show significant performance differences between AD and VaD in western studies, such as verbal memory, language/semantic knowledge, and information processing speed did not show strong indication of AD or VaD neuropsychological profiles in the Japanese study. There may be in fact no differences between Japanese AD and VaD, or the neuropsychological assessments that Tei and his colleagues used might not be appropriate for the Japanese elderly. On the other hand, the Japanese study uniquely demonstrated that Japanese AD scored significantly lower than the VaD on the visuospatial memory test. As we discussed in the previous section, Japan has a distinctive culture including writing and reading systems, and they are believed to greatly influence Japanese AD and VaD in each cognitive domain should be carefully selected.

Visuospatial/Construction Tests

Since Japan has cultural factors that strengthen visuospatial construction abilities, such as lifelong Kanji experience, it is possible that VaD and AD may affect more or less the visuospatial abilities of the Japanese. In the Japanese study, only the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test (ROCFT) was used to assess visuospatial construction abilities (Tei et al., 1997). In order to more precisely examine what areas of spatial abilities may be affected by the brain diseases, several other spatial tests should be also administered and explored.

The Clock Drawing Test has been already used in Japanese society to detect dementia. Japanese clinicians do not use a specific error analysis, such as one that has been used for differentiation between AD and VaD in the U.S. (Barr, Benedict, Tune, &

Brandt, 1992; Libon et al., 1997). The US error scoring system appears valid and useful to assess Japanese elders' visuospatial abilities as well. The clock face, with numerical numbers, and arms are universal between the U.S. and Japan. Only one scoring item regarding counterclockwise drawing of numbers should be carefully observed. Japanese elders have a unique experience to read and write from right to left as well as left to right; therefore, it may be more acceptable for Japanese elders to draw numbers in a counterclockwise manner. The performance of healthy controls will be able to provide important information about drawing manner in Japanese elders.

The ROCFT has been widely used in Japan although no norms have been developed. The Japanese study failed to show different performances on the copy condition between AD and VaD; however, there is still the possibility that persons with VaD perform worse on the copy due to perseveration. In addition to the accuracy of the copy, and immediate and delayed recall, strategy on the copy should be also measured (Levy-Benett, 1984). The strategy analysis is able to show whether the person uses a holistic approach or a fragmented approach by using a scoring system assessing good continuity and good connection. A recent study showed no sex difference on the strategy in young Japanese people (Sakamoto, 2006); therefore it is possible that the sex differences among the Japanese elderly may be also diminished. By analyzing strategy, it will help to better understand how Japanese AD and VaD patients differently approach the ROCFT.

Unlike the ROCFT or Clock Drawing, the Judgment of Line Orientation Test (JOLO) assesses pure visuospatial ability governed by the right hemisphere (Lezak,

2004). Adding the JOLO will reveal whether the impairment in spatial abilities is due to purer spatial orientation deficit.

Thus, by including different types of spatial performance tests (i.e. JOLO, ROCFT, and Clock Drawing), it will be able to assess which aspects of spatial abilities are impaired or intact (i.e. purely spatial ability, spatial planning, spatial organization).

Executive Functioning Tests

Digit Span Backward Task is used to assess working memory, which is a part of executive/ frontal process. Persons with VaD usually have disadvantages on the test because of an inability to establish and maintain the mental sets (Cosentino et al., 2004; Lamar et al., 2004; Libon et al., 2004). A Japanese fNIR study reported that individuals who outperformed on the Digit Span Backward Task showed significantly more blood flow in frontal lobe (Hoshi, et al., 2000). If the Japanese VaD patients have impairments in executive control, it is more likely to observe reduced blood flow in frontal lobe as well as significantly lower scores on the Digit Span Backward Task. This task is easily administered and accurately demonstrates the dysexecutive syndrome of VaD (Oosterman and Scherder, 2003). It is suggested that the Digit Span Backward Task can differentiate Japanese AD and VaD as well as American AD and VaD.

Both ROCFT and Clock Drawing Test are also assessments for executive control abilities because they examine abilities of spatial planning and inhibition. Japanese persons on average have strong spatial abilities because of their unique written language, so it is crucial to assess frontal and executive control in the visuospatial domain. It is important to note that the ROCFT can be a useful test for patients with mild dementia;
however it may not be valid for patients with moderate to severe dementia because ROCFT may be too difficult to even copy for persons with more severe dementia.

Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) is a powerful and well established test to assess one's executive control abilities. However, it is lengthy and complicated; therefore, it may not be considered an easy and quick test for elderly individuals. The target population in dementia research is older adults; therefore, they become tired faster than young adults. As time is of the essence, it is crucial to quickly complete testing in order to obtain valid results (Tei et al., 1997). The Japanese study used the WCST and successfully differentiated Japanese VaD from AD; however, it is still questionable if it is an appropriate test for very old Japanese.

Information Processing Speed Tests

Information processing speed is often assessed by Digit Symbol (DS) and Digit Copy (DC) Test. Motor slowness and perseveration errors that VaD patients often make are usually key elements in differentiating VaD from AD (Sakamoto et al., 2007). How Japanese elders, especially those with VaD, perform on the DS and DC is unknown; however, it is possible that Japanese VaD may not perform as badly as western VaD because the DS and DC consist of symbols. The Japanese written language, Kanji, is a set of pictorial symbols. Because Japanese elders have been exposed to the symbolic characters throughout their life, the experience may prevent the Japanese elders from slowing down or making errors on those tests. It would be interesting if Japanese AD and VaD patients perform similarly on the tests. Therefore, it is believed that the DS and DC are appropriate tests to assess two Japanese dementia groups.

Language Tests

Letter Fluency and Semantic Fluency Tests are commonly used in Japanese dementia studies (Takahashi, et al., 2006). Japanese AD patients tend to perform more poorly than healthy controls on semantic fluency tasks (Takahashi et al., 2007). It is not well studied how Japanese VaD perform differently as compared to the Japanese AD on the letter and semantic fluency tests; therefore it is difficult to propose that the verbal and semantic fluency tests will differentiate Japanese AD and VaD. However, it is worthwhile to explore if they can be useful assessment tools for Japanese dementia studies as a first attempt to choose sensitive and appropriate tests for Japanese culture.

Memory Tests

In Japanese dementia studies, subtests of the WMS are often used to assess memory functions (Kazui, Hashimoto, Hirono, & Mori, 2003). However, recent studies conducted by western researchers suggest that verbal learning tests (e.g. CVLT and PrVLT) are powerful assessment tools that demonstrate that AD has more encoding problems whereas VaD has more retrieval problems (Lamar et al., 2007; Libon et al., 1996; Looi & Sachdev, 1999). There is no Japanese study examining the usability and validity of a verbal learning test for the dementia population. There is Japanese Verbal Learning Test 16 item version (JVLT-16) just developed in 2006 by Dr. Matsui to assess memory function of schizophrenia patients (Matsui et al., 2006). However, the JVLT-16 has only three trials in a new learning phase and no recognition index (Matsui et al., 2006). Western clinicians use 9-item version in dementia clinics, as it is too difficult to have 16 words for dementia patients. Furthermore, the JVLT-16 is not normed among the elderly. Therefore, the Japanese Verbal Learning Test (PVLT-J) has been developed for the Japanese elders. It was carefully structured and modified based on PrVLT and CVLT

with supervision from Dr. Libon and Dr. Matsui who developed the PrVLT and JVLT-16 respectively. Impairment in episodic memory is a prominent deficit of AD; therefore, it is crucial to try the verbal learning test for Japanese elders.

Summary

In summary, this study is the first study trying to find appropriate neuropsychological tests which are able to differentiate AD and VaD among Japanese elders with great consideration of cultural differences. Because accurate diagnosis and early treatment may prevent the progression of the disease, it is important to better understand what neuropsychological tests are the most sensitive and efficient to successfully differentiate VaD and AD and how these groups perform similarly or differently on the tests. It has been suggested that there are more VaD than AD in Japan. VaD is preventable and treatable at the early stage of the disease; therefore, this study will provide new information regarding what cognitive domains are important and what kinds of cognitive impairments will possibly emerge when a patient shows VaD syndrome.

Japan has the longest life expectancy and largest aging society in the world. Dementia is therefore a serious problem in Japan. In order for Japanese elders with dementia and their families to have a better quality of life, it is Japanese clinicians' responsibilities to diagnose accurately and develop effective treatment plans in the initial or prodromal stage. It is vital to better understand how AD and VaD affect Japanese elders' cognitive functions for successful treatments.

CHAPTER 2. HYPOTHESES

It was hypothesized that visuospatial assessments would add helpful information regarding different performance on cognitive testing between Japanese AD and VaD patients. Five overall hypotheses were derived from the results of previous studies:

- 1. VaD patients would perform worse on visuospatial tasks than AD patients.
- 2. VaD patients would perform worse on executive control ability tasks than AD patients.
- VaD and AD patients would perform similarly on tasks of information processing speed.
- 4. AD patients would perform worse on delayed recall and recognition trials for both verbal and non-verbal memory tasks than VaD patients.
- 5. AD patients would perform worse on language tasks than VaD patients.

Because it is unknown how healthy Japanese elders would perform on the specific neuropsychological assessments, healthy controls were also recruited in this study. It was important to compare those diagnostic groups to the healthy control group. One study has demonstrated smaller magnitude of sex differences in Japanese young group compared to Japanese American and European American group (Sakamoto, 2006); therefore, it was also examined whether or not the smaller sex differences would be found between Japanese healthy men and women in the control group. It was hypothesized overall that the Japanese old men and women would perform similarly on neuropsychological tests, especially visuospatial tasks and verbal fluency tasks.

CHAPTER 3. METHOD

3.1. Participants

Seventy Japanese (30 healthy control, 20 AD patients, and 20 VaD patients) participants were recruited to the current study. The number of participants was determined by power analysis. Effect sizes of the neuropsychological tests which were used in this study were calculated based on the previous western studies and Tei et al.'s study (Tei et al., 1997). The range of the effect sizes were between d = 0.23 (Animal Naming Test) and d = 1.90 (ROCFT). Twelve dependent variables showed a large effect size; therefore, the effect size to determine the number of participants was set at a large effect size, which is 0.4. A p-value was set at 0.05, 1-tailed. The Sample Power program of the SPSS indicated that at least 20 people would be necessary in each group to obtain an ideal power, 0.8. When 20 people are recruited in each group, the power is 0.78.

It is well documented that age and education impact performance on neuropsychological testing. Age and education were matched among healthy controls, AD, and VaD groups.

In general, approximately 80% of dementia patients are female; therefore, it was expected that the majority of the participants in AD and VaD group would also be female; however, the same number of males and females were successfully recruited into each group.

Sex differences were examined in healthy controls; therefore 30 participants (15 males and 15 females) were recruited. Regardless of diagnostic groups, the individuals were required to meet the general inclusion and exclusion criteria as described below.

3.1.1. General Inclusion/ Exclusion Criteria for All Participants

To be eligible to participate in the study, individuals needed to be (a) between 65 and 85 years old; (b) able to read in Japanese, (at least at a ninth-grade level); and (c) willing to provide written informed consent and demographic information. The reading level was set at the ninth-level because the majority of basic Kanji characters used in daily life are taught by the ninth-grade in school. A brief Kanji test was given to all participants to assess their reading level as well as the level of their knowledge of Kanji.

Individuals who (a) were left handed, (b) had neurological or psychological disorders (other than dementias for individuals in dementia groups), and (c) obtained 79 or fewer points on the Kanji reading test were excluded from participation. All participants passed this Kanji test. Only right-handed individuals were recruited to this study to maintain homogeneity within and between groups. The Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), which is also available in Japanese, was administered to exclude people who were clinically depressed. Individuals who obtained 20 or higher score on the BDI would have been excluded from the current study; however, all participants scored less than 20.

3.1.2. Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria for Participants in Healthy Control Group

Individuals in the healthy control group scored 26 or higher on the Hasegawa Mini Mental Status Examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975; Tei et al., 1997). There are variations of MMSE scores to define "normal controls". The score 26 or higher for healthy controls was determined based on the Japanese studies that used the Hasegawa MMSE for Japanese elders (Tei et al., 1997; Koga et al., 2007).

3.1.3. Inclusion Criteria for Patients with Dementias

Individuals in the dementia group were diagnosed with AD or VaD by clinicians and neurologists based on CT scan and/or MRI film and medical history, such as cardiovascular disease, prior to the study. For the purpose of the current study, patients with mild dementia were recruited for internal validity; therefore, they had to score between 18 and 24 on the Hasegawa MMSE. Scores between 18 and 24 on the Hasegawa MMSE are considered to be indicative of mild cognitive impairment (Kato et al., 1991; Koga et al., 2007).

3.1.4. Subject Recruitment

3.1.4.1. Healthy Controls

The healthy Japanese participants were recruited using flyers posted at Nanpu hospitals and Nara Women's University in Nara prefecture, Japan. The flyers provided contact information so that individuals who were interested in this study were able to reach the researcher for an appointment. During the first phone contact with potential participants, the researcher asked questions regarding their age, handedness, and medical and psychological history to decide if the interested persons were eligible for this study. The BDI was also given to them orally during the first phone contact. When the persons fit all of the inclusion criteria, they were invited to the study. Since there was no compensation involved, the researcher went to each participant's residence to administer the protocol.

3.1.4.2. Participants with Dementias

The patients with AD or VaD were recruited at Nanpu hospitals in Nara, Japan. Nanpu hospitals have four different care units for the elders with dementia and other mental and medical problems. The neurologists and clinicians at the Nanpu hospital made the initial diagnosis of dementia based on the DSM-IV-TR criteria, the score on the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), and medical history. Then, they made the diagnoses of VaD using NINDS-AIREN criteria and AD using the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria. For the purpose of this study, only patients with probable VaD were included. The computed tomography (CT) and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) studies were also reviewed to support the diagnosis. Based on the diagnosis, a list of possible participants' names was given to the researcher, and she contacted each patient. The BDI was given to the patients during the first meeting. The researcher then asked the patients who met the inclusion criteria and their families whether they were interested in participating in this study. The Japanese culture is strongly family oriented; therefore, it was important to assure not only the patient's consent, but also their families' agreement to participate in this study. When the patients and their families agreed to participate, the researcher explained the informed consent.

3.2. Measures

The neuropsychological assessments used in this study were part of a harmonized protocol chosen by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke and the Canadian Stroke Network in order to successfully diagnose VaD and VaD related cognitive impairments (Hachinski et al., 2006). In the current study, memory, executive function, working memory, information processing speed, visuospatial construction abilities, and language/semantic knowledge were tested. These domains were examined because previous studies demonstrated unique and different clinical presentations between AD and VaD (Hachinski, et al., 2006; Price et al., 2005; Libon et al., 2008; Looi & Sachdev, 2003). Analysis of types of errors were also helpful to understand the

strengths and weaknesses of those patients with dementia (Giovannetti, Lamar,

Grossman, Cloud, & Libon, 1997; Jorm, et al., 1993; Libon et al., 2004; McPherson & Cummings, 1996; Sachdev & Looi, 2003). Each test in each cognitive domain were listed and explained below.

Hasegawa Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE): The MMSE is a general cognitive screening test that measures orientation, language, concentration, constructional praxis, and memory (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975). The maximum score on the test is 30. The MMSE has been translated, and modified by Dr. Hasegawa, and is commonly used for dementia in Japan (Hasegawa, 1983; Koga et al., 2002; Yoshitake et al., 1996). The Japanese version of the MMSE, the Hasegawa MMSE, was administered to the Japanese participants. The Hasegawa MMSE was used to match two diagnostic groups as overall cognitive levels, AD and VaD.

Executive Control

Digit Span Backward Task (Lamar et al., 2007, 2008): Working memory abilities require a significant capacity of performing a mental manipulation. Therefore, working memory is usually thought to be a part of executive control mechanism. This skill of working memory were assessed by the Digit Span Backward Task consisting of 3-, 4-, and 5-span trials. The Digit Span Backward Task is similar to the Digit Span Backward subtest of Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS) and Wechsler Memory Scale (WMS); however, it has more trials in each span to assess specific components of the working memory (Lamar et al., 2007, 2008). Unlike the Digit Span Backward subtest of the WAIS or WMS, the Digit Span Backward Task focuses on not only accuracy but also the types of errors that one makes. On this task, the participants were asked to repeat increasingly lengthy strings of numbers in reverse order. The "Any Order" and "Serial Order" suggest if the working memory impairment is due to storage or mental manipulation impairment, which indicates the inability to retain the necessary information in mind, or because of a true inability to mentally manipulate information as demanded by the task. The Any Order scoring is to give points for answers that have numbers that were said but may not be in the right order. The Serial Order scoring is to give points for only answers that have numbers in the correct order. These two scoring systems were the dependent variables for the test.

Information Processing Speed

Digit Symbol (DS) and Symbol Copy (SC) Test (WAIS-R-NI; Kaplan et al., 1987): On the DS test, there are numbers from "1" to "9" and each number has one symbol. These symbols are presented at the top of the test as a model. Under the model, only numbers are presented in boxes with blank boxes underneath. The participants were asked to fill out each empty box with a symbol that is associated with the specific number presented just above the box. The participants were asked to try to fill out as many boxes as possible in 120 seconds. The DS test is a sensitive tool to detect dementia because patients show decline on this test even in early stages of the diseases (Strandt & Hill, 1989: Lezak, 2004). On the SC test, the participants were asked to copy a symbol presented just above the empty box in 120 seconds. The SC is useful to distinguish between AD and VaD since VaD patients do not improve their performance on the SC from the DS tests due to their bradykinesia (slow movement; Sakamoto et al., 2007). For each test, the dependent variable was the number of correct items completed.

Visuospatial Construction

Clock Drawing Test: This test is useful for assessing one's visuospatial construction as well as executive control abilities. The participants were asked to draw a face of a clock to command and to copy with hands set for 10 after 11 (Goodglass & Kaplan, 1986). The performance was scored based on 10 errors. Those 10 errors can be placed into three categories: graphomotor impairments, hand and number placement, and executive control impairments (Libon et al., 1996). This test is considered to be sensitive to frontal-subcortical impairment (Cosentino et al., 2004; Libon et al., 1996). The dependent variable for the Clock Drawing Test was the number of errors.

Judgment of Line Orientation test-short form (JOLO): This test is to examine the ability to estimate angular relationships between line segments by visually matching angled line pairs to nine numbered radii forming a half circle. The test consists of twelve items (Libon et al., submitted). The participants were asked to scan and find the same angle as the model. They were asked to only point out the line without speaking in order to avoid a verbal component. Studies have showed that the JOLO is able to assess pure spatial ability governed by the right hemisphere (Lezak, 2004). The dependent variable was the number of correct answers.

Language/ Semantic Knowledge

Letter Fluency Test: The Letter Fluency Test was originally developed by Benton and his colleagues in the U.S. (Spreen & Benton, 1969). This test was originally developed to assess a person's executive control ability because s/he has to inhibit unwanted information and produce only the necessary response. "F", "A", and "S" are the most commonly used letters for fluency test. In Japan, "U (shi)", "V (i)", and " \mathcal{H} (re)" are the most widely used (Takahashi et al., 2007). This procedure is an oral form and the

participants were asked to say words that begin with a specified letter as many as in three trials of 60 seconds each. The verbal fluency test is widely used by neuropsychologists since it is one of the most useful instruments as it is sensitive to frontal involvement, especially left-frontal lobe damage (Benton, 1968). The dependent variable was the total number of correct responses summed across all three trials.

Animal Naming Test: Animal Naming Test is one of the most useful tests to assess semantic knowledge (Carew et al., 1997). On this task, the participants were asked to produce as many animal names as they can think of in 60 seconds. The successful number of responses was the dependent variable. Many studies demonstrated that VaD scored higher than AD (Henry, Crawford & Phillips, 2004; Monsch et al., 1997). The dependent variable for the Animal Naming Test was the number of correct items completed.

Learning and Memory

Philadelphia (repeatable) Verbal Learning Test-Japanese Version (PVLT-J): The Japanese version of verbal learning test was developed based on the Philadelphia (repeatable) Verbal Learning Test (PrVLT) and the 9-word experimental version of the CVLT (CVLT-9; Davis et al., 2002; Libon et al., 1996) for the purpose of this study. Some items (i.e. cauliflower and lamb) and categories (i.e., meat) on the CVLT-9 or P(r)VLT are less familiar to the Japanese elders; therefore, those items and categories were eliminated from the PVLT-J. Fifty seven Japanese individuals aged between 31 and 82 were asked to report most familiar and common items in each category including vegetables, fruits, fish, flowers, clothing, desserts, office supplies, tools, and furniture. Based on their responses, second most frequently answered items (55-75% of answers) were chosen for the actual items on the PVLT-J. Most frequently answered items (75% or higher) were used in the recognition trial as "prototypical items".

This test has two forms, and each contains nine words which are drawn from three semantic categories. The participants were asked to repeat each word after the examiner said it. After all nine words were said, the participants were asked to recall as many words as they can remember. When five trials were completed, a different 9-word interference list was then administered. This second list is interference; therefore, it was given only one time. Then the participants were asked to recall all of the words from the original list followed by a category cued recall condition. After completing delayed free and cued recalls, the participants were asked to answer "yes" or "no" if the words were from the first list. There were 36 items in the recognition trial. Short and delayed free and category recall for the original list and delayed recognition were assessed.

Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test (ROCFT): The ROCFT is able to measure not only visuospatial ability but also visuospatial memory in ages 6-89 years (Meyers & Meyers, 1995). The ROCFT was selected to use in this study because the Japanese study showed its value in differentiating AD and VaD (Tei et al., 1997). The ROCFT has three parts: Copy, Immediate Recall, and Delay Recall. Participants were exposed to a figure and copied it on a blank sheet (Copy). After the figure was taken away from the participants, they were asked to draw the figure from their memory (Immediate Recall). Then, 20 minutes later, the participants were again asked to recall and produce the picture on another blank sheet (Delay Recall). The results from the Immediate Recall and Delayed Recall were scored by accuracy. Accuracy was scored with an 18 criteria system (accuracy of the angles, correctness of proportions, etc.) and scores were given for

distortion and for placement (Bennet-Levy, 1984; Meyers & Meyers, 1995). A maximum of two points (one for accuracy and one for placement) was allocated to each scoring unit so that the highest possible score was 36. The results from the Copy were scored by strategy (Bennet-Levy, 1984). The participants' approach and strategies to draw the picture were monitored. The more holistic the approach used, the more points were awarded towards strategy. The maximum score for strategy was also 36.

In addition to the neuropsychological tests, demographic information was obtained from the participants at the beginning of testing. The questions included age, date of birth, years of education, occupation, and medical and psychological history. The data were confidential and used only to examine whether or not there were significant differences between groups.

3.3. Setting

3.3.1. Participants in Healthy Control Group

The examiners visited the participants' residences to administer the protocol.

3.3.2. Japanese Patients with Dementia

All patients stayed at the assisted care unit of the Nanpu hospitals. The patients were scheduled to come to the laboratory room in the Nanpu hospitals to complete the testing.

3.4. Procedure

Regardless of the difference in location of testing, all participants underwent the same procedure. There was one demographic questionnaire and eight neuropsychological tests. Prior to testing, all participants were asked to carefully read the informed consent

form and to sign it if they agreed to participate in this study. The tests and questionnaires

were administered in this order:

Mini-Mental Status Exam (MMSE) Demographic Questionnaire

- 1. Clock Drawing test
- 2. PVLT-J
- 3. ROCFT Copy and Immediate Recall
- 4. Digit Span Backward Task
- 5. Digit Symbol and Symbol Copy Test
- 6. JOLO
- 7. PVLT-J Delayed condition and recognition test
- 8. ROCFT Delayed Recall
- 9. Letter Fluency Test
- 10. Animal Naming Test

This protocol took approximately one hour to complete.

3.5. Data Analysis

There was one independent variable with three levels: Diagnosis (AD vs. VaD vs. healthy control); therefore, the statistical analysis was a between group design. Twenty three dependent variables were analyzed using multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) to decrease type I errors. When there were significant main effects, Tukey's post hoc tests were conducted in order to determine which groups were significantly different. Effect sizes of each analysis were also calculated.

As a second analysis, sex differences in healthy controls were examined. A MANOVA were conducted to examine whether or not small sex differences were found in Japanese elderly group. SPSS 16.0 (SPSS, Inc.) was used in all analyses, and all values were considered significant at p < .05 (two-tailed).

CHAPTER 4. RESULTS

4.1. Participant Demographic Characteristics

Seventy participants (20 Alzheimer patients, 20 vascular dementia patients, and 30 healthy controls), were recruited in this study. The original 70 elders who were contacted by the researcher participated in this study and no one declined after reading and signing the consent form. Demographic data are presented in table 3.1. No significant differences in age, years of education, and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) scores were observed [Age: F(2, 69) = 2.56, p = .09, Education: F(2, 69) = .02, p = .40, BDI: F(2, 69) = .36, p = .70]. While there was a significant difference in MMSE between the healthy control group (HC) and the other two diagnostic groups [F(2, 69) = 243.24, p < .001], as was expected, there was no difference in MMSE scores between Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia (VaD) group [HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p = .33)].

	НС	AD	VaD	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Age	75.0 (4.68)	77.7 (4.42)	77.1 (4.26)	
Education	12.6 (2.57)	11.7 (2.74)	11.5 (2.59)	
BDI	6.9 (4.61)	7.9 (4.23)	7.6 (3.91)	
MMSE*	29.3 (.88)	20.1 (2.13)	20.9 (2.01)	
* n < 001				

Table 4.1. Demographic data (Age, Education, BDI, and MMSE)

p < .001+ HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

4.2. Test Results

A multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted in order to examine main effects for diagnosis (HC vs. AD vs. VaD). When significant differences were found, Tukey's HSD post hoc tests were executed to identify which two groups had a difference. A partial eta squared was also provided to demonstrate an effect size for each result.

Executive Control

4.2.1. Digit Span Backward Task

Table 4.2 provides means and standard deviations for each group. The MANOVA revealed that there was no significant difference for the 3-span Any Order trial [F(2, 69) = 1.42, p = .250, $\mu^2 = .04$] while for the 3-span Serial Order trial, a significant difference was found [F(2, 69) = 4.10, p = .020, $\mu^2 = .11$]. The post hoc tests revealed that the HC group produced the numbers more accurately than the AD group (p = .02) and the VaD group (p = .02). There was no significant difference between AD and VaD groups (p = .91).

In terms of 4-span trials, there was no significant difference between three groups for the Any Order trial $[F(2, 69) = 1.65, p = .20, \mu^2 = .05]$ while a significant difference was found for the Serial Order trial $[F(2, 69) = 5.42, p = .007, \mu^2 = .14]$. The post hoc tests revealed that the HC group produced more numbers in a correct order than the AD group (p = .002) and the VaD group (p = .04). There was no significant difference between AD and VaD groups (p = .30).

There were significant differences on both the 5-span Any Order and Serial Order trials [Any Order: F(2, 69) = 3.75, p = .03, $\mu^2 = .10$, Serial Order: F(2, 69) = 10.77, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .25$]. For the Any Order trial, there was a significant difference only between HC and AD groups (p = .008). The HC group and VaD group did not show a significant difference (p = .23). No significant difference was detected between the AD and VaD group, either (p = .34). On the Serial Order trial, there were significant differences

between HC and AD groups (p < .001) and between HC and VaD groups (p = .005); however, the AD and VaD groups performed similarly (p = .57).

The Digit Span Backward Task is considered to be a sensitive task, especially the Serial order trials, to detect dementia. It was hypothesized that the VaD patients would perform worse on executive control ability tasks than the AD patients; however, even the toughest task, 5-span Serial order trial, was not able to differentiate between AD and VaD groups.

Table 4.2. Group means (%) and standard deviations of Digit Span Backward Task

		HC	AD	VaD	
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
3-span	Any	99.2 (2.31)	100 (0)	99.3 (1.83)	
	Serial*	94.0 (8.67)	84.2 (14.45)	83.6 (20.84)	†
4-span	Any	94.9 (6.31)	96.7 (5.78)	97.8 (4.75)	
	Serial**	81.9 (17.83)	66.2 (15.97)	71.8 (16.85)	††
5-span	Any*	89.6 (8.29)	82.4 (10.86)	86.5 (8.78)	†††
	Serial**	70.1 (16.54)	48.7 (16.36)	54.2 (18.57)	††††

p* < .05, *p* < .001,

† HC vs. AD (*p* = .02), HC vs. VaD (*p* = .02) †† HC vs. AD (*p* = .002), HC vs. VaD (*p* = .04) ††† HC vs. AD (*p* = .008)

††† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD p = .005)

Information Processing Speed

4.2.2. Digit Symbol (DS) and Symbol Copy (SC) Test

Table 4.3 provides means and standard deviations for each group. The MANOVA revealed that there were significant differences on the Digit Symbol Test [$F(2, 69) = 187.78, p < .001, \mu^2 = .85$]. The post hoc tests revealed that the HC group drew more symbols than the AD group (p < .001) and the VaD group (p < .001); however, there was no significant difference between the AD and VaD groups (p = .979). A similar result was found in the Symbol Copy test. There was a difference at least between two groups

 $[F(2, 69) = 172.55, p < .001, \mu^2 = .84]$. The HC groups copied significantly more symbols than the AD group (p < .001) and the VaD group (p < .001); however, there was no significant difference between the AD and VaD groups (p = .39). The hypothesis that the AD and VaD groups would perform similarly was supported.

 Table 4.3. Group means (%) and standard deviations of Digit Symbol and Symbol Copy

 Tests

	НС	AD	VaD	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Digit Symbol**	61.1 (13.54)	14.9 (4.41)	15.5 (5.17)	†
Symbol Copy**	113.23 (24.31)	32.9 (13.00)	23.5 (10.21)	††
** n < 0.01				-

⁺ HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001) ⁺ HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

Visuospatial/Construction

4.2.3. Clock Drawing Test

There were two trials on the Clock Drawing Test: Command and Copy trials. Table 4.4 provides means and standard deviations for each group. The MANOVA revealed that there was significant differences on the Command trial of the Clock Drawing Test [F(2, 69) = 13.23, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .28$]. The post hoc tests demonstrated that the HC group drew a face of a clock more accurately from their memory than the AD group (p = .013) and the VaD group (p < .001). The AD and VaD groups made similar number of errors (p = .137). On the Copy trial, the MANOVA showed that there were significant differences [F(2, 69) = 16.53, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .33$]. The HC groups copied the face of a clock on the sheet more accurately than the AD group (p = .002) and the VaD group (p < .001). Like the Command trial, there was no significant difference between the AD and VaD groups (p = .151). The hypothesis that the VaD group would make more errors on the Clock Drawing test was not supported.

Table 4.4.	Group	means and	l standard	deviations	of	Clock	Drawing	Test
							47	

	НС	AD	VaD	
# of errors	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Command**	0.53 (0.68)	1.50 (0.95)	2.20 (1.73)	†
Copy**	0.0 (0)	.85 (.88)	1.35 (1.31)	+ 1

** *p* < .001

† HC vs. AD (p = .013), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

†† HC vs. AD (*p* = .002), HC vs. VaD (*p* < .001)

4.2.4. Judgment of Line Orientation test-short form (JOLO)

Table 4.5 provides means and standard deviations for each group. On this test, a percentage of the correct answer was used as a score. Significant differences on the JOLO were found [F(2, 69) = 19.82, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .37$]. The post hoc tests revealed that the HC group was able to identify correct lines more accurately than the AD group (p < .001). Interestingly, the individuals in the VaD group were similarly able to point out the correct lines as the HC group; as a result, no significant difference between HC and VaD groups was found (p = .19). Additionally, the VaD group performed significantly better than the AD group (p < .001). The JOLO, a pure spatial/constructional task, was able to differentiate between the AD and VaD.

Table 4.5. Group means and standard deviations of JOLO

	НС	AD	VaD	
Accuracy(%)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
JOLO**	98.4 (5.04)	70.3 (26.22)	90.5 (11.33)] .
** <i>p</i> < .001				-

† HC vs. AD (p < .001), AD vs. VaD p < .001)

In summary for visuospatial/construction tasks, it was hypothesized that the VaD patients would perform worse than the AD patients; however, this study found that both groups performed similarly. The hypothesis was not supported; moreover, VaD patients performed better on the pure spatial task, JOLO, than AD patients.

Language/ Semantic Knowledge

4.2.5. Letter Fluency Test

Table 4.6 provides means and standard deviations for each group. The MANOVA revealed that there was a significant difference on the letter fluency test [F(2, 69) = 44.55, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .57$]. The post hoc tests revealed that the HC group produced more words than the AD group (p < .001) and the VaD group (p < .001). There was no difference between the AD and VaD groups (p = .14). The AD and VaD patients produced a similar numbers of words that begin with a certain letter of alphabet within 60 seconds.

 Table 4.6. Group means and standard deviations of Letter Fluency and Animal Naming

 Test

	HC	AD	VaD	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Letter Fluency**	27.4 (6.52)	12.7 (5.67)	16.2 (4.71)	Ť
Animal Naming**	18.4 (4.06)	7.1 (2.83)	9.8 (2.84)	††
** $p < .001$				

† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

†† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

4.2.6. Animal Naming Test

Table 4.6 above provides means and standard deviations for each group. There was a statistically significant difference between two groups on the Animal Naming performance [F(2, 69) = 81.75, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .71$]. The post hoc tests indicated that the

HC group produced more animal names than the AD group (p < .001) and the VaD group (p < .001); however, the patients in the AD group and VaD group performed similarly. No significant difference was found between the AD and VaD groups (p = .10); however, it can be considered that there was a trend that VaD produced more animal names than AD patients.

In summary, the hypothesis that the AD patients would perform worse than the VaD patients on language tasks was rejected by this study. The AD and VaD patients produced similar numbers of words on both verbal and animal fluency tests; although there was a trend that AD patients produced fewer words than VaD patients on the semantic fluency task.

Learning and Memory

4.2.7. Philadelphia (repeatable) Verbal Learning Test-Japanese Version (PVLT-J)

On the PVLT-J, performances on the six trials were statistically analyzed, which were: 1) a total number of words T1 to T5 (Total T1-5), 2) Short Delay Free Recall (SDFR), 3) Short Delay Cued Recall (SDCR), 4) Long Delay Free Recall (LDFR), 5) Long Delay Cued Recall (LDCR), and 6) Recognition.

Table 4.7 provides means and standard deviations for each group. The MANOVA demonstrated that there was a significant difference on the Total T1-5 [F(2, 69) = 107.46, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .764$]. The post hoc tests showed that the HC group recalled more words than the AD group (p < .001) and the VaD group (p < .001); however, the AD group and VaD group did not perform differently (p = .30). On the SDFR, a significant difference was found [F(2, 69) = 57.22, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .635$]. The HC group produced more words

from the Monday list than the AD (p < .001) and the VaD groups (p < .001). There was no significant difference between AD and VaD groups (p = .866). On the SDCR, there was also a significant difference between two groups $[F(2, 69) = 54.71, p < .001, u^2 =$.627]. The post hoc tests demonstrated that the HC was able to recall more words after the interference than the AD (p < .001) and VaD (p < .001). Like the SDFR, there was no significant difference between the AD and the VaD groups (p = .27). There was also a significant difference on the LDFR [F(2, 69) = 132.48, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .797$]. The HC group recalled more words from the Monday list after the 20-minute delay than the AD (p < .001) and VaD (p < .001). The patients with AD and VaD recalled similar numbers of words on the LDFR (p = 1.00). On the LDCR trial, a significant difference was found $[F(2, 69) = 133.70, p < .001, \mu^2 = .797]$. The HC performed better than the AD (p < .001)and VaD (p < .001) and moreover, the VaD group recalled more words than the AD by given cues (p = .008). The patients in the VaD group benefited from cues while AD did not. Lastly, on the recognition, there was a significant performance difference [F(2, 69) =30.72, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .480$]. The HC group identified more correct items that were on the Monday list than the AD (p < .001) and VaD (p < .001) groups. As with the LDCR, the VaD patients were able to more successfully identify the Monday items than the AD patients (p < .001).

As it was hypothesized, the VaD patients benefited from cues during the long delay and recognition trials. The VaD patients performed significantly better than the AD patients on long delayed recall and recognition trials of the PVLT-J.

	НС	AD	VaD	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Total T1-T5**	35.8 (4.27)	19.1 (4.14)	21.2(4.88)	Ť
SDFR**	6.5 (2.05)	1.6 (1.57)	1.9 (1.81)	††
SDCR **	7.6 (1.17)	3.05 (2.04)	3.8 (1.76)	†††
LDFR**	7.3 (1.54)	1.3 (1.59)	1.3 (1.49)	****
LDCR**	7.8 (1.22)	2.0 (1.34)	3.0 (1.61)	*****
Recognition (%)**	95.9 (5.02)	72.1(15.84)	87.3(10.06)	*****

Table 4.7. Group means and standard deviations of PVLT-J

** *p* < .001

† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001), †† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

††† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

†††† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001)

††††† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001), AD vs. VaD (p = .008)

†††††† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001), AD vs. VaD (p < .001)

4.2.8. Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test (ROCFT)

The ROCFT had four trials: Copy, Immediate Recall (IR), Delayed Recall (DR),

and Strategy. Copy, IR and DR measured accuracy, and Strategy evaluated one's approach for drawing the complex figure. The means and the standard deviations can be found in the Table 4.8. The MANOVA revealed that there was a significant difference on the Copy trial [F(2, 69) = 20.12, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .375$]. The HC group copied the figure more accurately than the AD group (p < .001) and VaD group (p < .001). Also, there was a significant performance difference between the AD and VaD groups (p = .05). This showed that the patients with VaD copied the figure more accurately than the patients with VaD copied the figure more accurately than the patients with AD. There was also a significant difference on the IR [F(2, 69) = 49.00, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .594$]. The post hoc tests showed that the HC group scored better in accuracy on the IR than the AD (p < .001) and the VaD groups (p < .001). Additionally, the patients with VaD performed better than the patients with AD group (p = .02). The VaD patients recalled the complex figure more accurately than the AD patients. On the DR, a significant difference was also found [F(2, 69) = 66.62, p < .001, $\mu^2 = .665$]. The HC

group recalled better than the AD group (p < .001) and the VaD group (p < .001). As with the IR, the VaD group recalled more than the AD group (p = .006). Twenty minutes later, the AD patients barely remembered the figure. Three patients with AD could not remember that they had copied the figure earlier. The scores on the Strategy were drawn from the Copy trial. There was also a significant difference between two groups [F(2, 69) $= 26.37, p < .001, \mu^2 = .440$]. The post hoc tests revealed that the HC used a more holistic approach than the AD group (p < .001) and VaD group (p < .001). Interestingly, the VaD patients performed better on the Strategy than the AD patients (p < .03). Not only the Accuracy (Copy, IR and DR), but also the Strategy drawn from Copy trial demonstrated their sensitivity to differentiate between AD and VaD.

	НС	AD	VaD	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Copy **	34.9 (2.05)	23.6 (9.43)	27.7 (6.95)	Ť
IR**	22.3 (6.69)	5.0 (3.34)	10.6 (7.81)	††
DR**	21.7 (7.51)	1.9 (2.79)	8.2 (6.56)	†††
Strategy**	30.1 (3.52)	17.4 (8.58)	21.9 (7.44)	****

 Table 4.8. Group means and standard deviations of ROCFT

** *p* < .001

† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001), AD vs. VaD (p = .05) †† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001), AD vs. VaD (p = .02) ††† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001), AD vs. VaD (p = .006) †††† HC vs. AD (p < .001), HC vs. VaD (p < .001), AD vs. VaD (p = .03)

4.3. Sex Differences in Healthy Control Group

As a second analysis, sex differences within the HC were evaluated. The demographic characteristics and BDI and MMSE scores are found in the Table 4.9. There were no significant differences in age, education, BDI scores or MMSE scores between males and females [Age: F(1, 29) = 3.37, p = .07, Education: F(1, 29) = 3.43, p = .06, BDI: F(1, 29) = 1.99, p = .17, MMSE: F(1, 29) = .38, p = .54].

	Males (n=15)	Females (n=15)
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Age	73.7 (4.03)	76.6 (4.70)
Education	13.5 (2.23)	11.8 (2.68)
BDI	5.7 (4.67)	8.1 (4.43)
MMSE	29.4 (.74)	29.2 (1.01)

Table 4.9. Demographic characteristics of Healthy Control (BDI and MMSE)

Table 4.10 presents the means and SDs of all tests. On the Digit Span Backward Task, no sex differences were found in any trials [3-span Any: F(1, 29) = 3.38, p = .06, 3-span Serial: F(1, 29) = .70, p = .40, 4-span Any: F(1, 29) = 1.09, p = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, P = .31, 4-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.09, F(1, 29)29) = .15, p = .70, 5-span Any: F(1, 29) = .59, p = .45, 5-span Serial: F(1, 29) = 1.62, p =.21]. On the letter and semantic fluency tests, there were no sex differences [Letter Fluency: F(1, 29) = .25, p = .62, Animal Fluency: F(1, 29) = 2.46, p = .13]. No sex differences were found in digit symbol or symbol copy tests [Digit symbol: F(1, 29) =.001, p = .98, Symbol copy: F(1, 29) = .31, p = .58]. The clock drawing or JOLO also did not demonstrate sex differences [Clock Command: F(1, 29) = .28, p = .60, Clock Copy (impossible to analyze because all participants scored "0"), JOLO: F(1, 29) = .37, p =.55]. Finally, on the Immediate Recall and Delayed Recall of the ROCFT, there were sex differences [IR: F(1, 29) = 4.57, p = .04, DR: F(1, 29) = 3.99, p = .05]. Males recalled the complex figure better than females; however, no sex difference was found in Strategy [F(1, 29) = 1.58, p = .22]. Males and females in HC group used a similar approach to copy the figure.

		Males (n=15)	Females (n=15)
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
DBT	3-span (Any)	100 (0)	98.3 (3.09)
	3-span (Serial)	95.3 (5.16)	92.7 (11.20)
	4-span (Any)	96.1 (5.73)	93.7 (6.83)
	4-span (Serial)	83.1 (17.47)	80.6 (18.70)
	5-span (Any)	90.8 (8.84)	88.5 (7.82)
	5-span (Serial)	73.9 (17.52)	66.3 (15.12)
Letter I	Fluency	26.8 (6.57)	28.0 (6.64)
Semant	tic Fluency	19.5 (3.98)	17.3 (3.94)
Digit S	ymbol	61.0 (13.43)	61.1 (14.12)
Digit C	ору	115.7 (20.71)	110.7 (27.97)
Clock	Command	.6 (.63)	.47 (.74)
	Сору	0 (0)	0 (0)
JOLO		98.9 (2.81)	97.8 (6.64)
PVLT	Total	35.9 (5.11)	35.7 (3.41)
	SDFR	6.3 (2.35)	6.7 (1.75)
	SDCR	7.5 (1.30)	7.8 (1.05)
	LDFR	7.4 (1.84)	7.3 (1.22)
	LDCR	7.8 (1.37)	7.8 (1.08)
	Recognition	95.7 (3.99)	96.1 (6.01)
Rey	*IR $(p = .04)$	24.8 (6.77)	19.8 (5.83)
	**DR ($p = .05$)	24.3 (8.00)	19.2 (6.23)
	Strategy	30.9 (3.02)	29.3 (3.90)

Table 4.10. Means and Standard Deviations of All Tests

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION

This study aimed to 1) identify appropriate neuropsychological tests to differentiate Japanese AD and VaD patients, and to 2) examine how Japanese AD and VaD patients perform on those tests. In order to achieve these goals, a total of nine tests and 23 variables were compared. All tests demonstrated that they can be used as screening tools to detect whether or not the individual suffers from dementia because all tests have shown significant differences between healthy controls and dementia groups. Each cognitive domain will be discussed below.

5.1.1. Executive Control

It was hypothesized that VaD patients would perform worse on executive control ability tasks than AD patients; however, the Digit Span Backward Task was unable to differentiate between AD and VaD. Many western studies have shown that VaD patients were more dysexecutive and performed more poorly on executive functioning tests than AD patients, including letter fluency, Clock drawing, and Similarities on the WAIS-III (Garrett et al., 2007; Lamar, Price, Davis, Kaplan, & Libon, 2002; Lamar, Swenson, Kaplan, & Libon, 2004; Looi & Sachdev, 1999). The Digit Span Backward Task was also considered as a helpful tool to differentiate between AD and VaD (Oosterman & Scherder, 2006); however, this study did not demonstrate a similar finding. In addition to the Digit Span Backward Task, letter fluency and Clock Drawing command trial were thought to be measures for executive functioning but neither of the tests was able to distinguish between Japanese AD and VaD. It is possible that the Japanese elders with VaD have less executive functioning problems. Based on Tei and colleagues' study, the Japanese VaD patients were significantly more dysexecutive than the Japanese AD patients (Tei et al., 1997); however, it is important to note that Tei and colleagues used the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), and their VaD patients made significantly more perseveration errors on the WCST than AD patients. The WCST is widely used in both western and eastern studies to assess executive functions; however, interestingly, the WCST has not often used for differentiation between AD and VaD in both western and eastern cultures (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). As different tests were used in present study, we cannot directly compare our study to Tei's study, but why did the current study not find similar results?

First, it is possible that the Japanese VaD patients may not have more executive problems than the AD patients. In fact, although Tei and colleagues did not necessarily consider letter fluency test as an executive functioning task, AD and VaD groups in Tei's study performed similarly on their letter fluency task (Tei et al., 1997), which is consistent with findings in this study. It is important to note that "executive functioning" can mean various cognitive abilities, such as planning, problem solving, mental flexibility, initiating and stopping actions, monitoring and changing behavior, and so forth. The Japanese VaD patients might not have significant impairment in working memory, which was measured in this study, but it does not necessarily mean that the Japanese VaD patients do not have deficits in other areas of executive functioning.

Second, Ishii and colleagues addressed that clinical symptoms of subcortical infarcts could be accounted for by frontal dysfunctions, and they demonstrated that the majority of infarctions were located in more anterior regions based on autopsy data (Ishi, Nishiahara & Imamura, 1986). It has been demonstrated that individuals with higher leukoaraiosis or white matter change performed worse on the Digit Span Backward Task

and the letter fluency test (Lamar et al., 2007). The VaD patients in the present study were selected based on the brain CT-scans or MRI films; however, their level of leukoaraiosis, or the volume of white matter change, was not measured. Therefore, it is unclear if the VaD patients had significantly higher leukoaraiosis than the AD patients, or if their white matter abnormalities were in the anterior part of the brain. Additionally, previous studies pointed out the heterogeneity of vascular dementia (Hachinski et al., 2006). It is true that advanced technologies and newer techniques, such as a measure of leukoaraiosis, allow us to indentify the characteristics of VaD more precisely (Libon, Price, Davis-Garrett, & Giovannetti, 2004; Olsson, Brun & Englund, 1996). Even though VaD patients generally show executive functional problems, it may depend on where in the brain the white matter changes are seen. It is possible that the VaD patients in this study might not have white matter lesions in the anterior part of their brains.

Third, as we discussed above, the Digit Span Backward Task is a tool to primarily measure working memory, which is considered to be a part of executive functioning. The test requires manipulating numbers while keeping the numbers in mind. According to the meta-analysis study, 66% of the studies that attempted to differentiate between AD and VaD by using working memory tests demonstrated that VaD performed worse than AD (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). This means that 34% of studies conducted in western cultures did not find a significant difference between AD and VaD. If Japanese VaD patients actually have fewer executive control problems than American VaD patients, it is not surprising that no significant difference was observed in this study. It would be interesting if Japanese VaD and American VaD patients' performances on the Digit Span

Backward Task were to be compared because there is no study that has done the crosscultural comparison.

5.1.2. Information Processing Speed

As we hypothesized, VaD and AD patients performed similarly on tasks of information processing speed, which is consistent with Tei et al.'s study (Tei et al., 1997). The Digit Symbol (DS) test is thought to be a good test to detect dementias because patients with dementias show declines on this test even in early stages of the diseases (Strandt & Hill, 1989: Lezak, 2004). The DS test was able to differentiate between healthy controls and dementia groups in this study as well. The Symbol Copy (SC) test also showed a significant difference between healthy control and dementia groups. A western study demonstrated that the Symbol Copy test is useful to distinguish between AD and VaD as VaD patients do not improve their performance on the SC from the DS test due to bradykinesia (slow movement; Sakamoto et al., 2007). However, the current study did not demonstrate a similar outcome. DS and SC tests use symbols, which are similar to the Kanji characters; therefore, it was expected that Japanese AD and VaD patients would show no difference. The extensive training in written language as well as the mixed way of writing and reading from both right to left and left to right in Japanese might have prevented the VaD patients from significantly slowing down as compared to the AD patients on both DS and SC tests.

One of other possible explanations could be that DS and SC tests are sensitive tests to detect dementias but not to differentiate between AD and VaD. A meta-analysis study indicated that the majority of studies that used the DS test did not differentiate between AD and VaD (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). The uniqueness of the present study was to include both DS and SC tests since one previous study has shown that a within group analysis comparing DS and SC was able to differentiate between AD and VaD among American patients (Sakamoto et al., 2007). Sakamoto and colleagues did not compare the raw scores of DS and SC tests, rather, they compared the slopes; how AD and VaD patients improve their speed from the DS to the SC test. It appeared that the VaD patients drew more symbols than the AD patients on the DS trial; however, the AD patients copied more symbols on the DC trial. In other words, there seemed to be a trend that the AD patients improved their speed whereas the VaD patients did not. Different types of analysis might be able to show the difference between AD and VaD among the Japanese elders. Additionally, it appears that replication will be needed to investigate whether the DS and SC tests are sensitive to differentiate between AD and VaD in both Japanese and American populations.

5.1.3. Visuospatial Construction

Although it was hypothesized that VaD patients would perform worse on visuospatial tasks than AD patients due to their perseverative errors, AD patients actually performed worse than the VaD patients. Because the Clock Drawing test can be considered as an executive functioning test since it involves spatial planning, it was thought that VaD patients would perform worse than AD patients; however, no significant difference was found in AD and VaD patients' performance. Micrographia was witnessed in four patients in the VaD group; however, perseveration was not found. Moreover, AD patients performed worse than the VaD patients on both simple (JOLO) and complex spatial/constructional (ROCFT) tests. It is still debatable whether AD and VaD patients perform similarly or differently as western studies demonstrated mixed

results (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). According to a meta-analysis study, 81% of studies showed no differences in visuospatial constructional abilities between AD and VaD (Looi & Sachdev, 1999). Tei et al.'s study also failed to differentiate between AD and VaD by using ROCFT (Tei et al., 1997). However, the present study was able to show that AD patients performed worse than VaD patients on both ROCFT and JOLO.

First, it could be possible that vigorous visual training in Kanji education might prevent differentiating even between HC and dementia groups. However, all visuospatial tests showed significant differences between HC and dementia groups. Based on the Copy trial and Strategy of ROCFT, when participants were asked to copy the complex figure, AD patients appeared to plan out poorly and to use a fragmented and disorganized approach. As a result, they inaccurately drew the figure even though it was presented in front of them while they were coping. The findings indicated that pathology of AD appears to impact Japanese elders' spatial ability. The visuospatial/ constructional abilities are generally governed by non-dominant hemisphere regardless of different ethnicities/ races; however, Asians appear to use more of the dorsal stream while Caucasians appear to use more of the ventral stream to assess spatial locations (Grön, Shul, Bretschneider, Wunderlich, & Piepe, 2003). Given that this study has demonstrated that the AD group performed worse than the VaD group while the majority of previous studies failed to differentiate between AD and VaD, it is possible that disruption is likely to be occurring between the occipital lobe and sensory cortex, although no study shows that the amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles are found more in dorsal stream.

In addition, a newer study has shown that large numbers of neurofibrillary tangles were found in cortical layers II, III, V and VI in Brodmann's area 37 in AD brains (Thangavel, Sahu, Van Hoesen, & Zaheer, 2008). It is believed that Brodmann's area is involved in object naming and recognition memory (Thangavel, Sahu, Van Hoesen, & Zaheer, 2008). Also, Brodmann's area 37 is generally activated when Japanese read and write Kanji while Brodmann's area 39 is associated with phonological letters (i.e. Hirakana, Katakana, and Roman letters) (Uemura, 2006). Thus, once AD starts damaging temporal cortex in the brain, including Brodmann's area 37, the Japanese elders may lose their cognitive strength obtained through an intensive training in Kanji education. It is exciting that visuospatial constructional tests can be used differentiate between AD and VaD as the present study has demonstrated.

Interestingly, VaD group's strategy score (21.9) is very similar to what has been witnessed in young healthy Japanese-American females (21.5) and healthy American females (20.4) (Sakamoto, 2006). This indicated that even though the Japanese VaD patients' memory might suffer as compared to the Japanese healthy elders, the VaD patients were at least attempting to use a good strategy. It is possible that their Kanji training crystallized their visuospatial constructional ability in comparison to what is seen in western-educated groups.

5.1.4. Language/ Semantic Knowledge

Both letter and semantic fluency tests were able to detect dementias although they were unable to distinguish between AD and VaD. We expected that AD group performed worse on the Animal Fluency task due to impairment in semantic knowledge; however, AD and VaD patients performed similarly. The amyloid plaques are found in large numbers in the limbic and associative cortices of AD patients and the neurofibrillary tangles affect large regions of brain, especially the entorhinal cortex, hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus and amygdale (Eriksen & Janus, 2007). Because semantic knowledge is mainly controlled in medial temporal lobes, it is reported that impairments in semantic knowledge are often witnessed even in the early stage of AD (Saffran & Schwartz, 1994). Although this study failed to show the difference in the semantic fluency, it is considered that there was a trend that AD patients would perform worse than VaD patients. It is possible that if we had a larger sample size, the difference between AD and VaD could have been merged. The semantic fluency test may not be as sensitive as other tests, however, this study has demonstrated the possibility of differentiating between Japanese AD and VaD.

5.1.5. Learning and Memory

It was hypothesized that the AD patients would perform worse on delayed recall and recognition trials for both verbal and non-verbal memory tasks than VaD patients, and this hypothesis was supported. On the verbal learning test, PVLT-J, the AD and VaD did not show different performances on Total, SDFR, SFCR or LDFR; however, VaD patients outperformed AD patients on LDCR and recognition trials. These results suggested that the VaD group was able to benefit from cues. In other words, it seems that the Japanese VaD patients have retrieval problems, while the Japanese AD patients have encoding problems. These findings are consistent with western studies (Price, Garrett, Libon, Swenson, Penney, Jefferson, et al., 2004; Lamar et al., 2007; Libon et al., 1996; Looi & Sachdev, 1999). The present study was able to demonstrate a great possibility of the PVLT-J to differentiate between AD and VaD even in early stage of diseases.

On the spatial memory test, ROCFT, even immediately after copying the complex figure, AD patients were not able to recall as much as VaD patients did. Twenty minutes

after the first exposure to the figure, AD group recalled the figure more poorly than VaD group. Three AD patients could not remember the fact that they copied the figure 20 minutes earlier. Although Tei et al. (1997) found a difference only on the Delayed Recall (DR) trial, this study successfully showed a significant difference between AD and VaD even on the IR. When it was more closely looked at how AD and VaD patients approached the ROCFT, strategy scores demonstrated that the VaD patients consistently used a more continuous and organized way to draw the figure. The different approach might have led to the different results in spatial memory. In younger populations, native Japanese used a more holistic approach than Japanese Americans and Americans (Sakamoto, 2006). Additionally, the native Japanese recalled figure better than the Japanese Americans and the Americans (Sakamoto, 2006). It seems that Japanese individuals see objects as a whole rather than as details. The Japanese participants' unique approach appears to lead to a better performance on spatial memory. As mentioned above, at the time of copying, the AD patients used more fragmented and disorganized approach than did VaD patients. This disorganized approach did not appear to help AD patients maintain the spatial information even immediately after the copy condition. It is already shown that AD patients demonstrated impairments in copying. It is possible that impairments in spatial orientation and planning might contribute to poor performance on both IR and DR trials in AD group.

Second, as described earlier, the amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles are found in large numbers in the limbic and associative cortices, especially the entorhinal cortex, hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus and amygdale (Eriksen & Janus, 2007). It is simply possible that the Japanese AD patients' brains are affected by plaques and
tangles in the medial temporal cortex. As a result, they performed significantly more poorly than the VaD patients. Thus, verbal and non-verbal memory tests demonstrated a strong indication that they can be a great tool to distinguish between AD and VaD in Japanese population.

5.2. Sex Difference in Japanese Elders

As a second analysis, sex differences in healthy control were evaluated. The majority of the tests were not able to show sex differences, which were overall inconsistent with western studies (Amponsah, 1997; Amponsah & Krekling 2000; Feingold, 1994; Orsini, Schiappa & Grossi, 1981; Orsini, Simonetta & Marmorato, 2004; Silverman, Phillips & Silverman, 1996); however, the Immediate Recall (IR) and Delayed Recall (DR) trials demonstrated that males recalled the Rey complex figure better than females. The strategy of the ROCFT indicated that the males and females used a similar approach to copy the figure. When younger native Japanese men and women were compared to see whether those two groups would show sex differences on the ROCFT, they did not demonstrate sex differences (Sakamoto, 2006). On the other hand, young Japanese Americans and Americans showed sex differences, and men in those two groups obtained significantly better scores than women on Strategy. Regardless of age differences, individuals with Kanji education demonstrated no sex differences on Strategy while male participants *favorably* performed better on memory tasks of ROCFT than female participants. It is likely that the intensive training in written language yield a similar approach in copying Kanji-like figure among Japanese elders. This study was able to show the same pattern whether young or old Kanji learners.

5.3. Summary

The present study was the first project which attempted to assess what neuropsychological tests could be used for differentiating between the Japanese AD and VaD, and how the Japanese AD and VaD patients would perform on those tests. Overall, this study demonstrated that all tests were able to detect dementias and to differentiate healthy control from dementia groups. In terms of distinguishing between AD and VaD, the present study indicated that verbal and non-verbal memory tests and visuospatial constructional tests can be great assets to differentiate two different types of dementia. AD patients performed more poorly on those tasks than VaD patients. The semantic fluency also showed a trend that it can be a useful tool. It was thought that the AD pathology might affect the Japanese elders the same way it affects the American elders, and this study supported this hypothesis. On the other hand, none of the executive functioning tests were able to differentiate VaD from AD even though it was hypothesized that VaD patients would be more dysexecutive than AD patients as western studies have demonstrated. It is possible that Japanese VaD patients are actually not so dysexecutive as compared to American VaD patients, or the Digit Span Backward Task was simply not sensitive enough to detect VaD patients' deficit in executive functioning. As it was expected, the tests for information processing speed were not sensitive enough to differentiate VaD from AD, and it can be thought that the extensive training in Kanji education and the mixed way of reading and writing might have prevented VaD patients to significantly slow down on SC test as compared to AD patients. Again, this is the first study attempting to differentiate Japanese AD and VaD by using western neuropsychological tests. This study should be replicated to see if the findings are valid.

In terms of sex differences among healthy Japanese elders, the ROCFT demonstrated that the Japanese men outperformed Japanese women on recall trials, which is consistent with western studies; however, no sex difference was found on Strategy. This unique finding is actually consistent with the outcome of Sakamoto's study, which compared young Japanese men and women's performances on ROCFT (Sakamoto, 2006). The current study indicated that the individuals with Kanji education are likely to use a similar approach when they copy the Kanji-like figure because of the way they learned 1050 Kanji characters in written language; however, like western studies have shown, spatial memory tasks appear to be a male favoring task.

In summary, the primary goals of the present study was to evaluate what neuropsychological tests would be sensitive to differentiate between Japanese AD and VaD and to examine how those two groups perform similarly or differently on the tests. There was only one study that explored the same topic but used different tests. Moreover, the previous study used different tests and failed to differentiate between AD and VaD in most of cognitive domains. It has been already 12 years since the last study was done, and it was urgent to evaluate and to find out what tests can distinguish between Japanese AD and VaD as early diagnosis and intervention could reverse VaD. It was interesting to see how AD and VaD affect Japanese brains, and this study suggested that 1) AD appears to affect elders regardless of cultural differences, and 2) Japanese VaD patients seems to have less severe executive control impairment than American VaD patients.

It is unclear how similarly or differently Japanese brains function and organize information as compared to western brains because there are only a few research studies that tried to assess neuro-functional differences between westerners and easterners by using neuroimaging. As Gron et al. (2003) demonstrated, different parts of the brain were activated when Asians and Europeans were asked to remember object locations. Moreover, behavioral studies in sociology and anthropology suggested cultural differences in ways how individuals looked at pictures and how they relate to those pictures (Chui 1972; Nisbett & Masuda, 2006). It is believed that both genetic and cultural factors interplay and govern one's cognition; as a result, differences in cognitive functions are often observed cross-culturally. One of the main differences between Americans and Japanese is written language, and it is likely that vigorous visual training in Kanji education produced unique outcomes in this study.

Even though all Japanese participants had Kanji education and obtained similar scores on a Kanji screen test, AD patients' performance on Copy trial of ROCFT was worse than HC and VaD groups. AD patients demonstrated poor spatial planning and organization, and their poor spatial planning appeared to lead to impairment in recall trials. This outcome suggested that no matter how much intensive training individuals have in Kanji education, AD would affect their visuospatial/ constructional ability as well as spatial memory. As described above, Brodmann's area 37 seems associated with Kanji interpretation and a new study has found large volume of neurofibrillary tangles in Brodmann's area 37 in AD brains. Once AD starts damaging brains, it may not really matter what one's premorbid cognitive functioning was as AD patients showed significantly poor performance even on simple spatial tasks (JOLO). On the other hand, Kanji education appeared to prevent Japanese VaD patients from slowing down on tasks of information processing speed. Moreover, VaD patients unexpectedly did not show significant impairments in executive functioning. Again, it is possible that Japanese VaD

patients might not have significant white matter change in their frontal lobe, or even if they do, the change might less impact on their function in executive control. Thus, it is important for clinicians to keep in mind that Japanese VaD patients may show less impairment in executive function when they are assessed for dementia evaluation.

5.4. Limitations and Future Directions

One of the difficulties was to accurately diagnose AD and VaD. In the U.S., measuring leukoaraiosis by using brain CT scan or MRI is a new technique for diagnosis of VaD; however, the application was unavailable in this study because Nanpu hospital did not have a particular computer that could digitize the CT scans. It cannot be excluded that VaD group might have a wide range in terms of white matter change within the group, and it might lead to heterogeneous performances. It is ideal to use objective technique, such as measuring leukoaraiosis, for more precise diagnosis.

Furthermore, it was challenging to recruit Japanese AD and VaD patients since inclusion and exclusion criteria were stringent in order to have "pure" AD and VaD groups as much as possible. It took a longer time to evaluate possible participants, contact them, and administer the tests than it was expected. In addition, Japanese society is more of a family-based culture than American society; therefore, it was important to obtain permission from patients' family members. Some families first showed resistance to have their loved ones participate in this research study because they felt that it would not directly help them. With the researcher's additional explanation, the family members eventually allowed the researcher to test the patient. In spite of some families' resistance, all patients who were contacted by the researcher participated in this study. Although it may take a long time and can be challenging, it is important to increase the number of subjects in future research as some results, such as semantic fluency and clock drawing, showed a trend for significant differences.

It is exciting that the Japanese version of PVLT developed specifically for this project has demonstrated its sensitivity to differentiate AD and VaD. Since there are no verbal learning memory tests officially used in Japan, some clinicians have already shown interest in testing out the PVLT-J for Japanese individuals. In order to evaluate its validity and reliability, it is crucial to administer PVLT-J to different populations in terms of age, sex, and educational levels. Developing norms among Japanese population will be an ultimate goal.

In addition to the PVLT-J, ROCFT, JOLO, and semantic fluency were found to be appropriate for distinguishing Japanese AD and VaD. Especially it was unique to include strategy analysis of ROCFT in the present study. There are other methods that evaluate one's spatial planning, such as Stern's strategy analysis (Stern et al., 1994). It would be interesting to see how Japanese AD and VaD patients perform differently measured by other strategy analyses. On the other hand, the Digit Span Backward Task, which is considered a sensitive test in American studies, failed to show significant differences. As Japanese VaD patients appeared less dysexecutive as compared to American AD patients, it may be interesting to add 6-span trials or to use different analyses, such as error analysis. Different types of analysis may yield to understand different types of errors and profiles that Japanese AD and VaD demonstrate.

The current study is the first attempt to assess the usability of neuropsychological tests developed in western countries for distinguishing dementia among the Japanese.

Because there is no previous study, it was challenging to conceptualize and integrate what findings are really speaking to. It is crucial to replicate this study with a larger sample size to re-evaluate neuropsychological profiles of Japanese AD and VaD. Additionally, as the present study utilized same tests that are used in western studies, it will be a next step to compare Japanese AD and VaD profiles to western AD and VaD profiles. This will yield a better understanding how AD and VaD impact elders' cognitive function across different cultures.

5.5. Conclusion

In conclusion, the present study was able to demonstrate the usefulness of verbal and spatial memory tests, visuospatial/ constructional tasks, and possibly a semantic fluency test. In terms of verbal memory, as many western studies have already shown, the Japanese AD patients have encoding problems while the Japanese VaD patients have retrieval problems. The Japanese VaD patients benefited from cues. It seems that the mechanism and pathology of Alzheimer's disease are similar regardless of ethnicity. Moreover, the PVLT-J was developed as a part of this project, and it showed its potential to be used to differentiate between Japanese AD and VaD. Since previously, there was no official Japanese version of a verbal learning memory test, it is exciting to present that PVLT-J will be an asset not only as a dementia screening test, but also as a sensitive test which can distinguish between Japanese AD and VaD. Japanese clinicians and researchers in dementia field have already started showing interest in using PVLT-J.

Regarding spatial memory, this study showed that the ROCFT is a powerful tool to differentiate between Japanese AD and VaD. It is more likely that Alzheimer's disease attacks the Japanese elders as the same way it damages American elders. Even though the Japanese use a unique written language that requires intensive spatial training, their advanced spatial ability does not seem reserved when Alzheimer's disease attacks their brains. As a result, we found that the ROCFT can be used for differentiation between Japanese AD and VaD.

Another key point of this study was that the Japanese VaD patients were not as dysexecutive as the American VaD patients. It is unclear whether the tests that we used in this study were not sensitive enough, or the Japanese VaD patients are actually less impaired in executive control. If the former is the case, it is important to develop new executive functioning tests that are sensitive enough to detect the Japanese VaD. It is also possible that the Digit Span Backward Task can be made more challenging, including providing more numbers of 5-span trials or adding 6-span trials. It may be interesting to see how the Japanese dementia patients perform on the 6-span trials. If Japanese VaD patients are simply not dysexecutive, then it should be considered to take out tests for executive functioning for differentiating between AD and VaD. However, it is important to keep in mind that the Tei et al.'s study was able to distinguish VaD from AD by using WCST. If other executive functioning aspects rather than working memory were examined, there might have been significant differences between AD and VaD. Except for Tei's study, the current study is the only one which attempted intensively to differentiate between Japanese AD and VaD by using western neuropsychological tests; therefore, it is crucial to replicate this study with a larger sample size.

It is exciting that the current study was able to identify sensitive and appropriate tests for differentiating different subtypes of dementia among Japanese elders. Early and precise diagnoses can lead to both a better treatment plan and prognosis because VaD is treatable. It is important to continue to explore what tests are usable for differentiating Japanese AD and VaD. Moreover, the continuous effort in dementia research of Japanese culture will help decrease patients' families' tremendous distress if early diagnosis and intervention can reverse or slow down the disease.

At last, it is important to emphasize that this study pointed out an importance of paying attention to variability in neuropsychological profiles across different ethnicities and races. Neuropsychologists should carefully select appropriate tests for an individual based on his/her cultures and attentively interpret test results because they may be either consistent or inconsistent with "typical" performances that are observed among the majority. The most crucial job for neuropsychologists to be a "diplomat" in order to build a bridge between brain and behaviors/cognition, and to speak out how they are interacting based on one's cultures, ethnicities, races, and genders.

REFERENCES

- 1. Amponsah, B. & Krekling, S. (1997). Sex differences in visual-spatial performance among Ghanaian and Norwegian adults. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 28(1), 81-92.
- 2. Amponsah, B. (2000). A comparison of sex differences in visual-spatial performance from preadolescence to adulthood in Ghana and Norway. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *30*(4), 25-31.
- 3. Anastasi, A. & Urbina, S. (1997). *Psychological Testing (7th ed.)*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 4. Ardila, A. (2003). Culture in our brains: Cross-cultural differences in the brainbehavior relationships. In T. Aaro (Ed). *Cultural Guidance in the Development of the Human Mind*. (pp. 63-78), Westport, CT: Ablex Publishing.
- 5. Bennett-Levy, J. (1984). Determinants o performance on the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test: An analysis, and a new technique for single-case assessment. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 23, 109-119.
- 6. Benton, A.L. (1968). Language learning: Perceptual bases. *Proceedings of the Annual Reading Institute*, 7, 23-31.
- 7. Blok, W.L., Katan, M.B., & van der Meer, JMW (1996). Modulation of inflammation and cytokine production by dietary (n-3) fatty acid. *Journal of Nutrition*, *126*, 1515-1533.
- 8. Bond, M. H. (1980). *The Psychology of the Chinese People*. Hong Kong: Oxford University Press.
- 9. Bowler, J. V., & Hachinski, V. (1995). Vascular cognitive impairment: A new approach to vascular dementia. *Baillieres Clinical Neurology*, 4(2), 357–376.
- 10. Braak, H. & Braak, E. (1997). Frequency of stages of Alzheimer-related lesions in different age categories. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *18*(4), 351-357.
- Capron, L. (1988). Extra and intracranial atherosclerosis. In J.J. Vinken, G.W. Bruyn, H.L. Klawans, & J.F. Toole (Eds.), *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (pp. 9–106). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Carew, T.G., Lamar, M., Cloud, B.S., Grossman, M. & Libon, D.J. (1997). Impairment in category fluency in ischemic vascular dementia. *Neuropsychology*. 11(3), 400-412.

- Chan, A.S., Shum, D., & Cheung, R.W.Y. (2003). Recent development of cognitive neuropsychological assessment in Asian country. *Psychological Assessment*, 15(3), 257-267.
- 14. Choi, I & Nisbett, R.E. (1998). Situational salience in the correspondence bias and in the actor-observer bias. Personality *and Social Psychology Bulletin, 24*, 949-960.
- 15. Choi, I., Nisbett, R.E., & Norenzayan, A. (1999). Causal attribution across cultures: Variation and universality. *Psychological Bulletin*, *125*, 47-63.
- Chui, H.C., Victoroff, J.I., Margolin, D., Jagust, W., Shankle, R., & Katzman, R. (1992). Criteria for the diagnosis of ischemic vascular dementia proposed by the State of California Alzheimer's Disease Diagnostic and Treatment Centers. *Neurology*, 42(3 Pt 1), 473–480.
- 17. Chui, H.L. (1972). A cross-cultural comparison of cognitive styles in Chinese and American children. *International Journal of Psychology*, 7, 235-242.
- Cosentino, S., Jefferson, A.L., Marissa, C., Price, C., Davis-Garrett, K.L., Swenson, R., & Libon, D.J. (2004). The clinical diagnosis of vascular dementia: A comparison among four classification systems and a proposal for a new paradigm. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 18(1), 6-21.
- Cummings, J.L., Miller, B., Hill, M.A. & Neshkes, R. (1987). Neuropsychiatric aspects of multi-infarct dementia and dementia of the Alzheimer's type. *Archives of Neurology*, 44, 389-393.
- 20. de Reuck, J. (1971). The human periventricular arterial blood supply and anatomy of cerebral infarctions. *European Neurology*, *5*, 321–334.
- 21. Delis, D.C., Kramer, J.H., Kaplan, E., & Ober, B.A. (1987). California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT), adult version. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Giovannetti, T., Lamar, M., Cloud, B.S., Grossman, M., & Libon, D.J. (1997). Impairment in category fluency in ischemic vascular dementia. Neuropsychology, 11, 400–412.
- 23. Grön, G., Wunderlish, A. P., Spitzer, M., Tomczak, R. & Piepe, M. W. (2000). Brain activation during human navigation: gender-different neural networks as substrate of performance. *Nature Science*, *3*(4), 404-408.
- 24. Grön, G., Schul, D., Bretschneider, V., Wunderlich, A.P., & ; Riepe, M. W. (2003). Alike performance during nonverbal episodic learning from diversely

imprinted neural networks. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(11), 3112-3120.

- 25. Eriksen, J.L. & Janus, C.G. (2007). Plaques, Tangles, and Memory Loss in Mouse Models of Neurodegeneration. *Behavior Genetics*, *37*, 79–100.
- 26. Erkinjuntti, T. & Rockwood, K. (2001). Vascular cognitive impairment. *Psychogeriatrics*, *1*, 27-38.
- 27. Farrer, L.A. (2001). Intercontinental epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: A global approach to bad gene hunting. *JAMA*, 285(6), 796-798.
- 28. Feingold, A. (1994). Gender differences in variability in intellectual abilities: A cross-cultural perspective. *Sex Roles*, *30*(1-2), 81-92.
- Fillenbaum, G.G., McMurry, S.M., Kuchibhatla, M., Masaki, K.H., Borenstein, A.R., Foley, D.J. Heyman, A., Larson, R.B., & White, L. (2005). Performance on the CERAD neuropsychological battery of two samples of Japanese- American elders: Norms for persons with and without dementia, *Journal of International Neuropsychological Society*, 11, 192-201.
- 30. Filley, C.M. (2001). *The Behavioral Neurology of White Matter* (pp. 146–150, 154–157). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- 31. Flaherty, M, & Connolly, M. (1995). Space perception, coordination and knowledge of kanji in Japanese and non-Japanese. *Psychologia: An International Journal of Psychology in the Orient*, 38(4), 229-237.
- 32. Folstein, M.R., Folstein, S.E., & McHugh, P.R. (1975). Mini-Mental State: A practical method for grading the cognitive status of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *12*, 189–198.
- Fox, D. (1993). Neuropsychology, achievement, and Asian-American culture: Is relative functionalism oriented times three? *American Psychologist*, 877-878.
- 34. Gao, S., Hendrie, C, Hall, S., & Hui, S. (1998). The relationships between age, sex, and the incidence of dementia and Alzheimer's disease: A meta-analysis. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 55, 809-815.
- 35. Gardner, H. (1999). *Intelligence Reframed: Multiple Intelligences for the 21st Century*. New York: Basic Books.
- Garrett, K.D., Paul, R. H., Libon, D.J., & Cohen, R.A. (2004). Defining the Diagnosis of Vascular Dementia. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 11(4) 2004, 202-207.

- 37. Gfeller, J.D. & Rankin, E.J. (1991). WAIS-R profile as a cognitive marker of Alzheimer's disease: A misguided venture? *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *13*, 629-636.
- Giovannetti, T., Lamar, M., Cloud, B.S., Grossman, M., & Libon, D.J. (1997). Impairment in category fluency in ischemic vascular dementia. *Neuropsychology*, 11, 400–412.
- Giovannetti, T., Lamar, M., Cloud, B.S., Swenson, R., Fein, D., Kaplan, E., & Libon, D. (2001). Different underlying mechanisms for deficits in concept formation in dementia. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 16, 547–560.
- Gitterman, M. R., & Sies, L. F. (1992). Nonbiological determinants of the organization of language in the brain: A comment on Hu, Qiou and Zhong. *Brain and Language*, 43, 162-165.
- 41. Goodglass, H. & Kaplan, E. (1983). *The assessment of aphasia and related disorders* (2nd ed.). Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger.
- 42. Graves, A.B., Rajaram, L., Bowen, J.D., McCormick, W.C., McCurry, S., & Larson, E.B. (1999). Cognitive decline and Japanese culture in a cohort of older Japanese Americans in King country, WA: The *Kame* project. *The Journal of Gerontology*, *54*(3), 154-161.
- 43. Gron, G., Schul, D., Bretschneider, V., Wunderlich, A.P., & ; Riepe, M. W. (2003). Alike performance during nonverbal episodic learning from diversely imprinted neural networks. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *18*(11), 3112-3120.
- 44. Gurland, B.J., Wilder, D.E., Cross, T., Teresi, J., & Barrett, V.W. (1992). Screening scales for dementia: Toward reconciliation of conflicting crosscultural findings. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 16*, 242-254.
- 45. Hachinski, V., Iadecole, C., Oetersen, R.C., Breteler, M.M., Nyenhuis, D.L., Black, S.E. et al., (2006). National institute of neurological disorders and stroke-canadian stroke network vascular cognitive impairment Harmonization Standards. *Stroke*, *37*, 2220-2241.
- Hallman, D.M. Boerwinkle, E., Saha, N., Sandholzer C., Menzel, H.J., Csazer, A., & Utterman, G. (1991). The apolipoprotein E porimorphism: A comparison of allele frequencies and effect in nine population. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 49, 338-349.

- 47. Hampstead, B., Chute, D., & Drexel University. College of Arts and Sciences. (2006). Dissociation of Vascular Dementia and Alzheimer's Disease using a Sequential Working Memory and Recognition Task.
- 48. Hasegawa, K. (1983). The clinical assessment of dementia in the aged: A dementia screening scale for psychogeriatric patients. In U. Lehr & E. Lang (Eds.). *Aging in the Eighties and Beyond* (pp.207-218). New York: Springer.
- 49. Hatano, G. (1990). The development of reflectivity. In *Development of Children and Education* (in Japanese). Tokyo: National Institute of Educational Research.
- 50. Henry, J.D., Crawford, J.R., Phillips, L.H. (2004). Verbal fluency performance in dementia of the Alzheimer's type: A meta-analysis. *Neuropsychologia*, 42, 1212–1222.
- Homma, A., Meguro, K., Domingues, Sahadevan, J., Wang, Y., & Morris, J.C. (2006). Clinical dementia rating workshop: The Asian experience. *Alzheimer's Disease and Associated Disorders*, 20(4), 318-321.
- 52. Hoshi, Y., Oda, I., Wada, Y., Ito, Y., Yamashita, Y., Oda, M., Ohta, K., Yamada, Y., & Tamura, M. (2000). Visuospatial imagery is a fruitful strategy for the digit span backward task: A study with near-infrared optical tomography. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 9(3), 339-342.
- 53. Ishii, N, Nishihara, Y, & Imamura, T (1986). Why do frontal lobe systems predominate in vascular dementia with lacunes? *Neurology*, *36*, 340-345.
- 54. Isomura, A. J. (2002). Verbal and spatial explicit memory performance among Japanese Americans and European Americans: Gender and ethnic differences. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *63*(6-B), 3034. (University Microfilms)
- 55. Jorm, A.F., Fratiglioni, L., & Windblad, B. (1993). Differential diagnosis of dementia: principal components of analysis of clinical data for a population survey. *Archives of Neurology*, *50*, 72-77.
- 56. Jorm, A.F., Kroten, A.E., & Henderson, A.S. (1987). The prevalence of dementia: A quantitative integration of the literature. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *76*(5), 465-479.
- Kalmijn, S, Lauren, L.I., Ott, A., Wiiteman J.C., Hofman, A. & Breteler, M.M. (1997). Dietary fat intake and the risk of incident dementia in the Rotterdam study. *Annual of Neurology*, 42, 776-782.
- 58. Kandimalla, K.K., Curran, G.L., Holasek, S.S., Gilles, E.J., Wengenack, T.M., Ramirez-Alvarado, M., & Poduslo, J.F. (2006). Physiological and biophysical

factors that influence Alzheimer's disease amyloid plaque targeting of native and putrescine modified human amyloid $\beta 40$. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 318(1), 17-25.

- 59. Kartesz, A. & Clydesdale, S. (1994). Neuropsychological deficits in vascular dementia vs. Alzheimer's disease: Frontal lobe deficits prominent in vascular dementia. *Archives of Neurology*, *51*, 1226-1231.
- 60. Kim, H. & Na, D. L. (1999). Normative data on the Korean version of the Boston Naming Test, Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 21(1), 127-133.
- 61. Kim, J.K. & Kang, Y. (2007). Normative study of the Korean-California Verbal Learning Test (K-CVLT).
- Knopman, D.S. & Selnes, O. (2003). Neuropsychology of Dementia. In K. Heilman & E. Valenstein (Eds.), *Clinical Neuropsychology* (pp. 574–616). NY: Oxford.
- Koga, T., Yuzuhara, T., Yao, H., Endo, K., Hiejima, S., Takashima, Y., Sadanaga, F. et al. (2002). Quantitative MRI findings and cognitive impairment among community dwelling elderly subjects. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 72, 737-741.
- 64. Lacreuse, A., Herndon, J. G., Killiany, R. J., Rosene, D. L., & Moss, M. B. (1999). Spatial cognition in rhesus monkeys: Male superiority declines with age. *Hormones & Behaviors*, *36*, 70-76.
- 65. Lafosse, J.M., Reed B.R., Mungas D., Sterling S.B., Wahbeh H., & Jagust WJ. (1997). Fluency and memory differences between ischemic vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychology*, *11*(4), 514-22.
- Lamar, M., Catani, M., Price, C.C., Heilman, K.M., & Libon, D.J. (2008). The impact of region-specific leukoaraiosis on working memory deficits in dementia. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(10), 2597-2601.
- 67. Lamar, M., Price, C.C., Davis, K., Kaplan, E., & Libon, D. (2002). Capacity to maintain mental set in dementia. *Neuropsychologia*, 40, 435–445.
- Lamar, M., Price, C.C., Libon, D.J., Penney, D.L., Kaplan, E., Grossman, M., & Heilman, K.M. (2007). Alterations in working memory as a function of leukoaraiosis in dementia. *Neuropsychologia* 45(2), 245-254.
- 69. Lamar, M., Swenson, R., Kaplan, E., & Libon, D.J. (2004). Characterizing alterations in executive functioning across distinct subtypes of cortical and subcortical dementia. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *18*(1), 22-31.

- Larson, E.B., McCurry, S., Graves, A.B., Bowen, J.D., Rice, M.M., McCormick, W.C. et al. (1998). Standardization of clinical diagnosis of the dementia syndrome and its subtypes in a cross-cultural study: *The Ni-Hon-Sea experience. The Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences, 53A*, M313-319.
- 71. Lavretsky, H. (2006). Diagnosis and treatment of vascular dementia. *Directions in Psychiatry*, 26(4), 49-67.
- 72. Lezak, M.D. (2004). *Neuropsychological Assessment (4th ed.)*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Libon, D.J., Bogdanoff, B., Cloud, B.S., Skalina, S., Carew, T.G., Gitlin, H.L., & Bonavita, J. (1998). Motor learning and quantitative measures of the hippocampus and subcortical white alterations in Alzheimer's disease and ischaemic vascular dementia. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 20, 30–41.
- Libon, D., Malamut, B., Swenson, R., & Cloud, B. (1996). Further analysis of clock drawing among demented and nondemented older subjects. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 11, 193–205.
- Libon, D.J., Mattson, R.E., Glosser, G., Kaplan, E., Malamut, B.L., Sands, L.P., Swenson, R., & Cloud, B.S. (1996). A nine word dementia version of the California Verbal Learning Test. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 10, 237-244.
- 76. Libon, D.J., Price, C.C., Davis- Garrett, K., & Giovannetti, T. (2004). From Binswanger's disease to leuokoaraiosis: What we have learned about subcortical vascular dementia. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *18*(1), 83-100.
- 77. Looi, J.C.L. & Sachdev, P.S. (1999). Differentiation of vascular dementia from AF on neuropsychological tests.
- 78. Looi, J.C.L & Sachdev, P.S. (2003). Geriatric psychiatry: Is the jury still out on the cognitive effects of homocysteine and one-carbon metabolism? *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *16*(6), 649-658.
- 79. Loring, D.W., Meador, K.J., & Mahurin, R.K. (1986). Neuropsychological performance in dementia of the Alzheimer's type and multi-infarct dementia. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *1*, 335-340.
- 80. Lukatela, K., Malloy, P., Jenkins, M., & Cohen, R. (1998). The naming deficit in early Alzheimer's and vascular dementia. *Neuropsychology*, *12*, 565–572.

- Mathuranath, P.S., George, A., Alexander, A., Sarma, S.G., & Sarma, P.S. (2003). Effects of age education and gender on verbal fluency. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 25(8), 1057-1064.
- 82. Matsui, M., Yuuki, H., Kato, K., & Kurachi, M. (2006). Impairment of memory organization in patients with schizophrenia or schizotypal disorder. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *12*(5), 750-754.
- McCurry, S.M. Gibbons, L.E., Uomoto, J.M., Thompson, M.L., Graves, A.B., Edland, S.D., Bowen, J., McCormick, W.C., & Larson, E.B. (2001). Neuropsychological test performance in a cognitively intact sample of older Japanese American adults. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 16, 447-459.
- 84. McGeer P.L. & McGeer, E.G. (1995). The inflammatory response system of brain: implications for therapy of Alzheimer and other neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Res. Rev. 21*, 195-218.
- 85. McPherson, S. E. & Cummings, J. L. (1996). Neuropsychological aspects of vascular dementia. *Brain and Cognition 31*, 261-282.
- 86. Mendez, M.F. & Asla-Mendez, M.A. (1991). Differences between multiinfarct dementia and Alzheimer's disease on unstructured neuropsychological tests. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *13*, 923-932.
- 87. Mendez, M.F., Cherrier, M.M., & Perryman, K.M. (1997). Differences between Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia on information processing measures. *Brain and Cognition*, *34*, 301-310.
- 88. Meyers, J.E. & Meyers, K.R. (1995). Rey Complex Figure Test under four different administration procedures. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 9(1), 63-67.
- 89. Mizushima, S., Moriguchi, E.H., Ishikawa, P., et al. (1997). Fish intake and cardiovascular risk among middle-aged Japanese in Japan and Brazil. *Journal of Cardiovascular Risk*, *4*, 191-199.
- Monsch, A.U., Seifritz, E., Taylor, K.I., Ermini-Funfschilling, D., Stahelin, H.B., & Spiegel, R. (1997). Category fluency is also predominantly affected in Swiss Alzheimer's disease patients. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 95, 81– 84.
- 91. Morris, M.W. & Peng, K. (1994). Culture and cause: American and Chinese attributions for social and physical events. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 949-971.
- 92. Murayama, S. & Saito, Y. (2004). Neuropathological diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropathology*, *24*, 254–260.

- Nisbett, R.E. & Masuda, T. (2006). Culture and point of view. In D. Andler & L. Hirschfeld (Eds.), *Biological and Cultural Bases of Human Inference*, (pp. 49-70). Mahwah, U.S.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- 94. Olsson, Y., Brun, A., & Englund, E. (1996). Fundamental pathological lesions in vascular dementia. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavia*, *168*, 31–38.
- 95. Oosterman, J.M. & Scherder, E.J.A. (2007). Distinguishing between vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease by means of the WAIS: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 28(7), 1158-1175.
- 96. Orsini, A., Schiappa, O. & Grossi, D. (1981). Sex and cultural differences in children's spatial and verbal memory span. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 53(1), 39-42.
- 97. Orsini, A., Simonetta, S. & Marmorato, M. S. (2004). Corsi's Block-tapping Test: Some Characteristics of the Spatial Path Which Influence Memory. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 98(2), 382-388.
- Rascovsky, K., Salmon, D.P., Hansen, L.A., Thal, L.J., & Galasko, D. (2007). Disparate letter and semantic category fluency deficits in autopsy-confirmed frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychology*, 21(1), 20-30.
- 99. Reed, B.R., Mungas, D.M., Kramer, J.H., Ellis, W., Vinters, H.V., Zarow, C., Jagust, W.J., & Chui, H.C. (2007). Profiles of neuropsychological impairment in autopsy-defined Alzheimer's disease and cerebrovascular disease. *Brain*, *130*, 731-739.
- Padovani, A., Di Piero, V., Bragoni, M., Iacoboni, M., Gualdi, G.F., & Lenzi, G.L. (1995). Patterns of neuropsychological impairment in mild dementia: A comparison between Alzheimer's disease and multi-infarct dementia. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavia*, 6, 433–442.
- 101. Patoni, L., & Garcia, J.H. (1997). Pathogenesis of leukoaraiosis: A review. *Stroke*, 28, 652–659.
- Pfeifer, L.A., White, L.R., Ross, G.W., Petrovitch, H., & Launer, L.J. (2002). Carebral amyloid angiopathy and cognitive function. *Neurology*, 58, 1629-1634.
- 103. Price, C.C., Garrett, K.D., Libon, D.J., Swenson, R., Penney, D., Jefferson, A., et al. (2004). Verval serial list learning among dementia patients with and without white matter changes: Factor solution. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 10, 8-18.

- 104. Price J.L., Davies, P.B., Morris, J.C., & White, D.L. (1991). The distribution of tangles, plaques and related immunohistochemical markers in healthy aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *12*, 295–312.
- Roman, G. C., Tatemichi, T. K., Erkinjuntti, T., Cummings, J. L., Masdeu, J. C., Garcia, J. H., et al. (1993). Vascular dementia: Diagnostic criteria for research studies. Report of the NINDS-AIREN International Workshop. *Neurology*, 43(2), 250–260.
- 106. Sachdev, P.S. & Looi, J.C.L. (2003). Neuropsychological differentiation of Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. In V. Hachinski & J.V. Bowler (Eds.), Vascular Cognitive Impairment: Preventable Dementia, (pp.153-175). London: Oxford University Press.
- 107. Saffran, E., & Schwartz, M.F. (1994). Of cabbages and things: Semantic memory from a neuropsychological perspective—A tutorial review. In C. Umilta & M. Moscovitch (Eds.), Attention and Performance XV: Conscious and Nonconscious Information Processing (pp. 507–536). Cambridge, MA: Bradford.
- 108. Sakamoto, M., Roseman, E., Davis, K., Giovannetti, T., Penney, D., Swenson, R., & Libon, D. (2007). Assessing Executive Control Deficits in Patients with Subcortical Vascular Disease V: Information Processing Speed and Graphomotor Impairment. Presented at the 3rd congress of the International Society for Vascular and Cognitive Disorders, San Antonio, Texas.
- Sakamoto, M., Spiers, M., & Drexel University. College of Arts and Sciences. (2006). Spatial ability among Japanese and Americans: sex and cultural differences, Unpublished Thesis (M.S.), Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA.
- Schliemann, A.D. & Carraher, D.W. (2001). Everyday Cognition: Where Culture, Psychology, and Education Come Together. In David M. (Ed). *The handbook of culture and psychology*. (pp. 137-150). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- 111. Silverman, I., Phillips, K. & Silverman, L. K. (1996). Homogeneity of effect sizes for sex across spatial tests and cultures: Implications for hormonal theories. *Brain & Cognition*, 31(1), 90-94.
- 112. Spreen, O., & Benton, A. L. (1969). *Neurosensory Center Comprehensive Examination for Aphasia (NCCEA)*. Victoria: University of Victoria Neuropsychology Laboratory.
- 113. Squire, L. & Zola-Morgan (1991). The medial temporal lobe memory system. *Science*, 253, 1380-1386.

- 114. Starkstein, S.E., Sobe, L., Vasquez, S., & et al., (1996). Neuropsychological, psychiatric, and cerebral blood flow findings in vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Stroke*, *27*, 408-411.
- Stern, R.A., Singer, E.A., Duke, L.M., Singer, N.G., & et al. (1994). The Boston Qualitative Scoring System for the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure: Description and interrater reliability. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 8(3), 309-322.
- 116. Stuss, D.T., & Cummings, J.L. (1990). Subcortical vascular dementias. In J.L. Cummings (Ed.), *Subcortical Dementia* (pp. 145–163). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- 117. Tatemichi T.K., Sacktor, N., & Mayeux, R. (1994). Dementia associated with cerebrovascular disease, other degenerative diseases and metabolic disorders. In Terry R. Katzman, R. & Bick K. (Eds.). Alzheimer's Disease (pp. 123-166). New York: Raven Press.
- 118. Tavassoli, N. T. (2002). Spatial memory for Chinese and English. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 33(4), 415-431.
- 119. Teng, E.L., Hasegawa, K., Homma, A., & et al. (1994). The Cognitive Abilities Screening Instrument (CASI): A practical test for cross-cultural epidemiological studies of dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *6*, 45-58.
- 120. Thangavel, R, Sahu, S.K., Van Hoesen, G.W., & Zaheer, A. (2008). Modular and laminar pathology of Brodmann's area 37 in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience*, *152*(1), 50-55.
- United Nations (2003). *The Aging of the World's Population*. Retrieved August 28, 2007, from United Nations [online] http://www.un.org.esa.socdev/ageing/agewpop.htm.
- Vinters, H.V., Ellis, W.G., Zarow, C., Zaias, B.W., Jagust, W.J., Mack, W.J., & Chui, H.C. (2000). Neuropathologic substrates of ischaemic vascular dementia. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 59(11), 931-945.
- 123. Villardika, C. (1993). Alzheimer's disease compared with cerebral vascular dementia: Neuropsychological similarities and differences. *Acta Neurology of Scandinavian*, *89*, 299-308.
- 124. Walsh-Bohmer, K.A. & Warren L.H. (2006). Neurodegenerative dementias. In D.K. Attix & K.A. Walsh-Bohmer (Eds.). *Geriatric Neuropsychology: Assessment and Intervention*. New York: The Guilford Press.

- 125. Weiss, E.M., Ragland, J.D., Brensinger, C.M., Bilker, W.B., Deisenhammer, E.A., & Delazer, M (2006). Sex differences in clustering and switching verbal fluency tasks. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 12(4), 502-509.
- 126. Yamada, T., Kadekaru, H, Matsumoto, S, Inada, H., Tanabe, M., Horiguchi, E.H., et al., (2002). Prevalence of dementia in the older Japanese-Brazilian population. *Psychiatry & Clinical Neurosciences*, *56*, 71-75.
- 127. Yoshitake, T., Kiyohara, Y., Kato, I, et al. (1995). Incidence and risk factors of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease in a defined elderly Japanese population: The Hisayama study. *Neurology*, *45*, 1161-1168.

VITA

Maiko Sakamoto was born in Matsuyama, Ehime, Japan. After graduating from Nara Women's University as a valedictorian, she moved to Philadelphia for graduate study and received a Master's degree in Dance/Movement Therapy from MCP Hahnemann University. Her Master's thesis: The effect of the combination of movement and guided-imagery among depressed university students: A psychophysiological study was awarded at the graduation. After working at the Developmental Center for Autistic Children as a mental health therapist, she started her graduate studies in Clinical Neuropsychology at Drexel University, where she has performed diverse activities including teaching classes, conducting research studies, presenting the studies at conferences, and publishing books and manuscripts. Maiko received a student award at a conference of the National Academy of Neuropsychology in 2007 and honorable mention on Drexel University Research Day in 2005. She also assisted publishing the book "Principles of Neuropsychology" by E. A. Zillmer, M. V. Spiers, and C. C. Culbertson. In addition, she is actively involved in translating books, such as An Introduction to *Medical Dance/Movement Therapy* (originally written By S. Goodill) and *Dance Therapy Notebook* (originally written by J. L. Naess Lewin). Maiko has gained clinical experience at prestigious institutions including Thomas Jefferson University, Drexel Hospital, University of Medicine and Dentistry in New Jersey and Drexel University Student Counseling Center. She is currently completing her internship at Medical Center and Outpatient Psychiatric Services of University of California, San Diego.